Ocean Afforestation's effects on deep-sea biogeochemistry

By Merel Lanjouw Supervisor Olivier Sulpis Second supervisor Jack Middelburg

Relevant terms:

Ocean Afforestation - blue carbon - geoengineering - CDR - biogeochemistry - modelling - climate change

Summary

If climate change is left unchecked it will lead to unprecedented deterioration of human health, economy and ecology. According to the IPCC, in order to avoid severe consequences, global warming will need to be limited to 1.5°C. However, the 1.5°C warming will be exceeded if current trends continue, which is why the need for Carbon Dioxide Removal (CDR) has become increasingly apparent. Ocean afforestation is currently one of the most promising CDR approaches, with the least competition for space, high carbon sequestration potential and high technical feasibility. Ocean afforestation approaches attempt to sequester carbon by sinking seaweed to deep-sea areas. This research looks at the consequences of the seaweed input to deep-seafloor. An early diagenetic model called RADI is used to predict the fate of the carbon and the effect on biogeochemistry. The model was adapted to include new sources of sedimentary organic matter, such as seaweed (*Sargassum, Saccharina, Macrocystis*) and Sugarcane bagasse, which are currently considered potential candidates for ocean afforestation purposes.

Sargassum, an invasive free-floating species, has a large sequestration potential and is readily available. Sinking Sargassum in pulse, large amounts over short times, leads to high carbon retention in the sediment (up to 25% after two years) but leads to hypoxic conditions in the sediment for at least two years after addition. Continuous Sargassum sinking also leads to carbon sequestration but with a much less invasive impact on the seafloor. The carbon from continuous sinking does not remain in the sediment but is remineralized and flows out to the bottom water as inorganic carbon. Saccharina, an edible coastal species, could be used to grow on free floating organic buoy. Having the additional sequestration benefit from the carbon fixed in the organics. Carbon retention is highest for the pulse addition of this seaweed (33% after two years), compared to a continuous approach (30%) in which the seaweed is added over longer timescales in small amounts. Since this pulse input also leads to hypoxic conditions in the sediment, the continuous approach is more favourable for this approach. *Macrocystis*, the giant kelp known for forming ecosystems, is a fast-growing coastal species. This species requires harvesting and baling for use in carbon sequestration. Carbon retention is much higher for pulse addition (30%). Sugar cane bagasse is an agricultural residue with high carbon content. Sinking this residue to anoxic basins, has been proven to retain more carbon than in oxygenated bottom waters. This can be confirmed with the results which showed a carbon retention of up to 50% after two years. The effect on the benthic biome is also less intense since the low oxygen conditions already necessitate a specialized microbiome. Sugarcane bagasse is furthermore the only addition capable of increasing bottom water pH. Whereas all seaweed approaches had higher dissolved inorganic carbon than alkalinity flow to the bottom water, resulting in net acidification. This research provides a first look into the effects of ocean afforestation on deep sea biogeochemistry, and illustrates the importance of the composition, quantity and input duration of the seaweed used.

Table of Contents

Summary	1
Introduction	4
Climate change and carbon dioxide removal	4
Ocean afforestation	6
Politics, social perceptions and economics	7
Biogeochemistry deep sea	8
From production to sequestration	8
Carbonate system	10
Low oxygen conditions	10
The role of seafloor biota	11
Sequestration potential	11
Macroalgae, phytoplankton or seagrasses	12
Sargassum (Fluitans and natans)	13
Saccharina latissima (sugar kelp)	13
Macrocystis pyrifera (Giant kelp)	13
Terrestrial biomass	14
Research question and aim	14
Method	15
Documenting ocean afforestation initiatives	15
Model implementation	16
Time	17
Bioturbation and irrigation	17
Decay/degradation	17
Particulate organic carbon flux	18
Sensitivity analysis	21
Results	1
Oxygen	1
Alkalinity	3
Fate organic carbon	28
Sensitivity analysis	30
Discussion	28
Ocean afforestation approaches	28
Effects on biogeochemistry and fate of organic carbon	29
Risks	30
Limitations	31
Conclusion	32

References	33
Appendices	39
Appendix 1: adjusted variables RADI	39
Appendix 2: species parameters	41
Appendix 3: location parameters	42

Acknowledgements

Special thanks to Olivier Sulpis, who not only has been a great supervisor but also an excellent motivator and a pleasure to work with. I would also like to thank Jack Middelburg for providing insight whenever I had questions. Lastly, I would like to thank my parents Alma and Stefan Lanjouw and co-scienceenthusiast Jan Meutgeert who were always willing to listen and help.

Introduction

Climate change and carbon dioxide removal

Reduced food and water security, increased extreme weather events, irreversible losses to terrestrial and marine ecosystems are some of the consequences of climate change that can be observed today (IPCC, 2022). If emissions are left unabated, the amount of people affected climate change will increase, with increased risks to food and water security but also new risks to mental health and ecosystem services (energy, coastal protection, cultural). These factors will increase inequality, lead to more climate migrants and have severe economic consequences. Limiting global warming to 1.5 degrees will be essential to prevent human, economic and ecological losses. However, reaching this goal will require countries to reduce their emissions to near zero by 2050, something that will not be obtained if current trends continue (United Nations Environment Programme, 2022). To limit warming to 1.5°C the IPCC acknowledges the need for carbon dioxide removal technologies (IPPC, 2022). Removing Carbon Dioxide from the atmosphere for sequestration purposes is called Carbon Dioxide Removal (CDR). CDR is defined by the IPCC (2022) as any form of carbon dioxide storage induced by humans. The most common CDR approaches are direct CO₂ capture from the air, direct storage in terrestrial or marine reservoirs or usage of natural carbon sequestration systems. In order to remove CO₂ from the atmosphere for long enough to avoid severe consequences, the carbon needs to move from the fast to the slow carbon cycle (Riebeek 2011). The fast carbon cycle consist mainly of carbon fixated and released by organisms through respiration or degradation. The excess CO₂ in the atmosphere, however, comes mainly from fossil fuels. Carbon stored in this form can naturally move from its reservoir to the atmosphere and back, but normally takes 100-200 million years (Riebeek, 2011). Fossil fuels are therefore part of the slow carbon cycle, which describes the slow transfer of carbon between the oceans, atmosphere and lithosphere over thousands to millions of years. By burning the fossil fuels, the carbon moves from the slow to the fast carbon cycle since it cannot return to its previous reservoir in the same time it takes to burn. Still, CO2 can be taken up by the oceans over very short timescales, making earth's oceans an important carbon sink, absorbing approximately a third of the total anthropogenic emissions (3.0 of 10.2 Gt C/yr) (Friedlingstein et al., 2022). However, the ocean has a larger potential as a carbon sink. Anthropogenic carbon absorbed in the ocean primarily resides in the photic zone, either as part of organisms (e.g., phytoplankton) or as dissolved inorganic carbon with fast turnover times. Which can be demonstrated by looking at one major carbon fixating system: phytoplankton communities. Of the phytoplankton net primary productivity, producing 50 Pg C annually, only 10 pG C is exported to the ocean interior, of which 2 Pg C is deposited on the sediment and only 0.2 Pg C is buried (Middelburg, 2019), leading most carbon fixated by phytoplankton to re-enter the atmosphere over short timescales (within decades), whereas carbon in the ocean interior and bottom waters/sediment will remain there for hundreds to thousands of years. The slow carbon cycle acts in the ocean in the form of sinking photosynthetically fixed carbon in organic matter or carbon rich skeletons to the deep sea, where the carbon can be incorporated into sediments and eventually subducted into the Earth interior, on timescales of millions of years, or stay in dissolved form in deep sea bottom waters, which won't resurface for hundreds to thousands of years (Riebeek, 2011). CDR approaches are utilizing different processes from the slow carbon cycle to fix carbon over 1000 years, which is often considered 'permanent' in CDR approaches (https://frontierclimate.com/) (Table 1).

Table 1: summary of common CDR approaches

CDR name	Description
Land based	
Afforestation/reforestation	Planting or restoring (usually) forests to increase carbon storage in the soil and organisms
Biochar	Made by burning organic matter under low oxygen conditions, biochar can be used to fix additional carbon in soils
Direct air capture	Pumping CO ₂ directly from the atmosphere into storage
Bioenergy with carbon capture and storage	Crops are used for biofuel production and the CO ₂ produced is stored, usually in depleted gas reservoirs
Ocean based	
Ocean fertilisation Enhanced weathering	Iron fertilisation: adding iron sulphate directly to areas where phytoplankton growth is limited by iron concentration, the additional phytoplankton growth should as a result fix more CO ₂ and eventually increase carbon sequestration Artificial upwelling: pumping nutrient rich deep waters to the surface to increase algal growth and therefore carbon sequestration Weathering minerals in coastal areas which take up CO ₂ when dissolving. Additionally increasing alkalinity,
CO ₂ injection	Injection CO_2 into deep sea formations. Direct CO_2 injection into deep waters has been rejected and currently replaced with injection into basalt formations (Kelemen et al., 2019)
Ocean alkalinisation	Increasing pH to counter ocean acidification and increase CO ₂ uptake (see Biogeochemistry deep sea)
Ocean afforestation	Growing seaweed and consequently sinking the organic matter in the deep sea, effectively sequestering the CO ₂ fixated by the seaweed

Though it is likely a combination of CDR techniques is needed to maximize chances of success and reach CO² reduction goals, ocean-based CDR has many benefits compared to other techniques. Mainly because land-based CDR techniques require area which could otherwise be used for agriculture or nature restoration. Direct air capture, though it does not require much land, is very expensive and the energy needed for the process would save more emissions if it was used in industrial processes (Jacobson, 2019). However, the different ocean-based CDRs mentioned in Table 1 also have benefits and downsides.

- Ocean fertilisation has been a controversial technique with low social acceptance, changes to upper ocean ecosystems with possible harmful blooms and unknown risks, oxygen depletion in the ocean interior and highly uncertain efficacy (Williamson et al., 2012).
- Enhanced rock/mineral weathering is quite permanent and not resource limited, however it does require a lot of energy for mining, transport and processing and the process can be slow and have unknown environmental consequences (Raza et al., 2022).
 - Ocean alkalinisation, which overlaps with enhanced weathering, has similar benefit and downsides (Ilyina et al., 2013).
- Geological CDRs such as CO₂ injection are economically and technically feasible and have higher public acceptance but require a lot of monitoring, has a shortage of suitable locations and has a risk of leakage (Raza et al., 2022).
- One of the most promising CDR techniques is ocean afforestation, which is a cheap, fast and repeatable process with possibly the least process emissions.

In the following paragraph this CDR technique will be explained, by looking at the technical aspects as well as the social and economic impacts.

Ocean afforestation

Ocean afforestation refers to growing (usually) macroalgae with the purpose of carbon sequestration. The macroalgae are grown in locations which normally do not contain large quantities of seaweed, either on the open sea or on seaweed farms. This new growth can be implemented in many different forms, commonly as seeded ropes or artificial reefs, where seeded ropes are most commonly used in seaweed cultivation for the global market. Seaweed farms, even when not used for carbon sequestration, have a very high CDR potential. Naturally formed detritus allows for carbon sequestration and harvested seaweeds can be used for food, biofuel and cosmetics, replacing land-based products and therefore reducing the amount of land or fossil fuel used (Kraan, 2013). When seaweed is used for CDR, the biomass is either immediately sunk by pumping to greater depths or transported/processed before being sunk. Processing is applied to either extract nutrients and other valuable ingredients or to bundle the seaweed to facilitate sinking. Transport allows the seaweed to be sunk at a chosen location, to reduce ecosystem impacts or to reach full sequestration potential.

Though technically not afforestation, some initiatives intend to use naturally (though increasingly invasive) occurring *Sargassum (Fluitans* and *natans)* to pump to >1000 m depth. Other initiatives intend to sink terrestrial biomass, which, though it also does not fall within the definition of ocean afforestation, shares the same goal.

Ocean afforestation can be compared to reforestation as both intend to grow seaweed, however the goal of ocean afforestation is to sink the seaweed whereas reforestation is mainly used for ecosystem restoration. In marine reforestation degraded seagrass meadows or kelp forests are restored by seeding algae or technical measures such as artificial reefs. Restoring ecosystems has many benefits, since it allows carbon to be fixed in the plants and sequestered in the sediment. Secondly, bare seafloors are subject to wave and tidal actions which releases carbon and nutrients, which significantly reduces when ecosystems are present. Though reforestation has its additional benefits in coastal protection, biofiltration and harvesting, the actual sequestration potential of restored coastal ecosystems is uncertain. Sequestration potential of coastal seaweed ecosystems is estimated by calculating the portion of seaweed (% of NPP) which leaves the system as particulate organic matter and is stored out of contact with the atmosphere. Up to 11% of the total carbon fixed in seaweed ecosystems can be sequestered this way, though these are still rough estimates (Krause-Jensen & Duarte, 2016). On the contrary, nearly all carbon fixed in afforestation can be used in carbon sequestration. Ricart et al. (2022) also argued that ocean afforestation is a much more efficient option compared to traditional coastal blue carbon restoration or conservation efforts. Mainly because the coastal areas, where seaweed naturally occurs, covers less than 0.2% of the total ocean, whereas seaweed cultivation can be expanded to open ocean areas, reducing pressure on coastal systems while still contributing to climate mitigation. Lastly, a potential 48 million square kilometres of ocean are suitable for seaweed cultivation and if this area was solely used for carbon sequestration it could remove 2 million tonnes of CO_2 per year (Froehlich et al., 2019).

Many aspects of ocean afforestation need to be considered before implementation, concerning economic, ecological, political and societal risks and benefits. Lastly, the effects of such an increased amount of organic matter on the deep seabed will have an unknown impact on deep sea biogeochemistry which is the focus of this research.

Politics, social perceptions and economics

"Producing large volumes of seaweeds for human food, animal feed and biofuels could represent a transformational change in the global food security equation and in the way we view and use the oceans." ("Seaweed Aquaculture for Food Security, Income Generation and ...") (World Bank, 2016, p. 1)

In practice ocean afforestation as a CDR technique is heavily limited by policy, as well as a lack of scientific understanding of its effects on ecosystems and biogeochemistry, especially over longer time scales. Research by Bertram & Merk (2020) explored public perceptions on CDR methods and how they influence future deployment. They found that CDR methods that seemed more natural were often favoured by the public, irrespective of the methods effectiveness. Afforestation on land is often looked upon as natural and therefore favourable, suggesting that ocean afforestation is likely to be perceived positively as well. Apart from the sequestration potential, seaweed cultivation has been mentioned many times as essential to Sustainable development Goals from the United Nations (2015). Seaweed aquaculture could generate income in developing countries, improve food security, provide clean(er) energy, improve responsible consumption and production, contribute to climate action and benefit life in water and on land (through replacing land use for food and fuel). This makes ocean afforestation one of the best CDR approaches to date.

Though social perceptions are important to CDR implementation, financial and technical feasibility will eventually determine whether ocean afforestation as a CDR approach will be used and how it will be applied. Different approaches include different species, locations and processing. For location the main options are coastal or offshore cultivation, both which have benefits and downsides. Cultivation in coastal areas is technically feasible and cheap due to the existence of seaweed farms, however, the transport of the seaweed to the open sea as well as either pumping or bundling the seaweed to sink, is time intensive and increases emissions. Generally offshore aquaculture is more expensive than coastal aquaculture, due to the increased transport and labour costs (Ross, Tarbuck & Macreadie, 2022). Offshore cultivation comes in two forms, either on fixed platforms or on (free) floating devices. The fixed platforms can be wind farms or oil platforms, which reduces transport and personnel costs due to the existing maintenance personnel and allows for multi trophic aquaculture. Though this approach is technically feasible it is still much more expensive than traditional seaweed cultivation, research from 2016 showed that current seaweed prices would need to increase 300% for cultivation on wind farms to become economically viable (van den Burg et al., 2016). Two main options are available for the (free) floating approach. The first being autonomous vehicles which can navigate the waters and measure environmental conditions to optimise growth, resulting in effective cultivation but high development and maintenance costs. The second option is a buoy made from biodegradable matter, which follows the currents and sinks when their density exceeds that of water, taking all cultivated seaweed with them. The biodegradable buoy has much lower costs, requiring no maintenance and are cheap to produce. However, since no tracking is possible it is much harder to quantify how much carbon is sequestered or to monitor the effects on local ecosystems.

One last approach to ocean afforestation is aimed at indirectly reducing emissions, by using seaweed to replace land-based products with higher process emissions. Since seaweed grown on farms still has some sequestration potential, this approach is currently more economically favourable. The market for seaweed has grown from 4.2 million tonnes/yr of algae in 1990 to 35.1 million tonnes/yr in 2020 (Fao, 2022). Algae can be used for a variety of products and uses depending on their composition, which determine the value they possess in the global market. High lipids contained in algae are used in oil-based products and industries. Algae with high carbohydrate concentrations are suitable for biofuel. Algae can also be

harvested for unique compounds such as pigment, vitamins, minerals and amino acids. Some algae produce extracellular polymeric substances such as Polyhydroxyalkanoates which are used in bioplastic production (Singh & Dhar, 2019). Lastly, specific algae such as *Asparagopsis* has shown remarkable potential in bio feed application. Research by Kinley et al. (2020) demonstrated that supplying a high grain diet with only 0.20% *Asparagopsis*, the methane emissions in steers was reduced by 98% alongside weight gain improvements.

Though seaweed has increased in value and application, an incentive may be needed for seaweed farmers to use the seaweed for CDR (Duarte et al., 2017). Carbon offsets might be the solution here, allowing companies to put a price on climate mitigation and incentivising good practices. The voluntary carbon market is already selling carbon offsets for CDR practices (CarbonCredits.com, 2022).

Biogeochemistry deep sea

Perceptions of the deep-sea are often of oligotrophic and even anoxic environments, with low biological abundance and activity. Though this is true for certain parts of the ocean, the ocean floor is diverse in many aspects. Varying in temperature, salinity, oxygen and nutrient concentration, depth and more. All these variables influence benthic organisms, i.e., organisms living on or in the seafloor. Food supply for benthic life is mostly in the form of allochthonous organic matter (OM), and only a small portion through chemoautotrophy and locally recycled OM (Danovaro, Snelgrove & Tyler, 2014). The allochthonous OM is mainly produced by phytoplankton in the photic zone and reaches the seafloor either vertically (sinking) or laterally (advection). The horizontal influx of OM is referred to as lateral flux and is due to advection from the continental margins, where biological activity is high. Deep-sea canyons can collect large amounts of OM over time and can sometimes even be considered eutrophic. Vertically transported material can occur continuously or as pulse events. Pulse events are fast, high concentration OM drops and are often referred to as food falls which come in the form of whale, fish, macroalgae or even phytoplankton falls (Danovaro, Snelgrove & Tyler, 2014). If seaweed is sunk for CDR purposes, it is most likely to resemble food falls.

From production to sequestration

When an organism dies or detritus is produced, the OM is immediately subject to microbial degradation. Degradation is important for carbon sequestration since it influences the amount of carbon reaching the seafloor as well the fate of the carbon on the seafloor. Degradation is generally high in the photic zone and as the material sinks into the aphotic zone, degradation decreases. This implies that in order to increase sequestration, the OM should leave the photic zone as fast as possible. The OM reaches the seafloor as particulate organic matter (POM) which settles on the top of the sediment and migrates to deeper layers through bioturbation or by being buried under new layers of settling material such as new POM, calcium carbonate and clay. On the sediment surface the higher concentration of fauna and bacteria results in higher degradation rates, which decrease when the POM moves deeper into the sediment where consumer abundance decreases. The rate at which organic matter degrades depends on a variety of conditions and processes. Sinking speed and size are the most important in the water column, determining how much degradation can take place before it reaches the seafloor. The chemical makeup of the POM determines whether it is labile or refractory and conditions such as temperature and pH affect microbial communities and activity (Mayer, 1995). Furthermore, degradation requires electron acceptors, which can transform organic carbon into inorganic carbon (Middelburg, 2019). Oxygen is always the preferred electron acceptor because of the high free energy release associated with oxygenassociated OM degradation, but deeper in sediments, when oxygen concentrations lower, other degradation pathways take over, in order based on the reactions free energy :

Table 2. The decrease of reactivity with depth is related to its accessibility, the availability of electron acceptors and the fact that the most labile material has already degraded in the top layer, leaving more refractory matter to be buried. Particulate organic matter is often referred to as Particulate Organic Carbon (POC), to facilitate sequestration calculations. The amount of POC is based on the carbon content of the specific organic matter and is often given in grams of carbon per (k)g of dry weight seaweed.

Degradation pathway	Reaction (Cai et al., 2010)	Gibbs free energy (Middelburg, 2019)
Aerobic respiration	$(CH_2O)_{106}(NH_3)_{16}(H_3PO_4) + 138 O_2 \rightarrow 106 CO_2 + 16 HNO_3 + H_3PO_4$	-475
Denitrification	$(CH_2O)_{106}(NH_3)_{16}(H_3PO_4) + 0.8 * 106NO_3 + 0.8 * 106H^{\circ} > 106 CO_2 + 0.4 * 106 N_2 + 16NH_3 + H_3PO_4$	-448
Manganese oxide reduction	$(CH_2O)_{106}(NH_3)_{16}(H_3PO_4) + 2 * 106MnO_2 + 4 * 106H^{\circ} \rightarrow 106 CO_2 + 2$ * $106Mn^{2^{\circ}} + 16NH_3 + H_3PO_4$	-349
Iron(hydr)oxide reduction	$(CH_2O)_{106}(NH_3)_{16}(H_3PO_4) + 4 * 106FeOOH + 4 * 106H^{\circ} \rightarrow 106 CO_2 + 4 * 106Fe^{2\circ} + 16NH_3 + H_3PO_4$	-114
Sulphate reduction	$(CH_2O)_{106}(NH_3)_{16}(H_3PO_4) + 106/2SO_4^2 + 106H^2 \rightarrow 106 CO_2 + 106/2H_2S + 16NH_3 + H_3PO_4$	-77
Methanogenesis	$(CH_2O)_{106}(NH_3)_{16}(H_3PO_4) > 106/2 CO_2 + 106/2CH_4 + 16NH_3 + H_3PO_4$	-58

Table 2: degradation pathways with the reaction occurring with Redfield organic matter and free energy available.

Modelling is a useful tool to research the fate of the organic matter, however it does require knowledge on a lot of parameters surrounding the environment and the organic matter. In practice it is challenging to provide a good estimate of reactivity and burial, due to the large number of processes involved depending on the location and environmental factors. In 1D modelling degradation is usually determined by the depth and reactivity of the OM (Stolpovsky, Dale & Wallmann, 2018). In many current earth system models the degradation of POC is described as a function of burial rate and POC rain with linear decay kinetics (Stolpovsky, Dale & Wallmann, 2018). The POC rain can consequently be based on in situ measurements but cannot be extrapolated to a global scale model (Arndt et al., 2013). In most models the refractory fraction of POC is regarded as undegradable over large timescales (~10^3 years), resulting in the refractory fraction being approximately equal to the carbon burial (Stolpovsky, Dale & Wallmann, 2018).

Though carbon is the most abundant nutrient in OM, nitrogen and phosphorus are essential for all organisms. Nitrogen in organic matter is degraded or taken up by other organisms. Degradation produces NH₃ (ammonia), which can be oxidized into nitrate NO₃ or nitrite NO₂ which can consequently be used again for nitrification. Proteins contain most nitrogen and are easily degradable, which is why C:N ratio increases with degradation in particulate matter, effectively increasing the carbon content (Yoshimi et al., 2003). Phosphorus is degraded into phosphate, an essential nutrient, but in much lower concentrations. Both ammonia and phosphate have buffering capacities, meaning that can slow down acidification. However, reactions within the carbonate system are the dominating controls over seawater pH changes.

Carbonate system

Particulate inorganic carbon reaches the seafloor mostly as carbonate minerals. Calcite and aragonite (calcium carbonate) are produced by calcifying organisms and after the organisms dies the mineral either falls as rain on the seafloor or dissolves (Middelburg., 2019). Dissolution occurs when the water is undersaturated, when Ca^{2*} and CO_{3}^{2*} concentration fall below a certain level. This concentration is determined by something called the saturation state. The saturation state of calcite changes when the surrounding pH and temperature change, which is why ocean acidification can lead to calcite dissolution. When CO_{2} dissolves in water, bicarbonate and carbonate are produced:

$$CO_2 + H_2O \leftrightarrow H_2CO_3 \leftrightarrow H^+ + HCO_3^- \leftrightarrow 2H^+ + CO_3^{2-}$$

The added protons result in a lowering of the pH: acidification. The increase in protons leads to a shift in the carbonate balance from carbonate to bicarbonate and CO_2 see Figure 1, the decreased dissolved carbonate lowers the saturation state and facilitates additional calcite dissolution (Sulpis et al., 2017).

Ocean afforestation could therefore affect the carbonate system by the following sequence of effects: POC reaches the seafloor and degrades, producing CO_2 , the dissolved CO_2 lowers the pH and the calcite saturation state, which eventually leads to calcite dissolution. In returns, calcite dissolution releases dissolved Ca^{2*} and HCO_3^{2*} .



Figure 1: Bjerrum plot: carbonate balance based on pH, the lower the pH becomes the more dissolved carbonate shifts to bicarbonate and CO₂ (Middelburg, 2019)

$$\begin{array}{c} CaCO_3 \leftrightarrow Ca^{2+} + CO_3^{2-} \\ CO_3^{2-} + H^+ \leftrightarrow \ HCO_3^{-} \end{array}$$

Since carbonate and bicarbonate can absorb protons, this reaction actually increases alkalinity, where alkalinity is a measure of the capacity of seawater to resist acidification. The other degradation pathways, except methanogenesis, also add to the total alkalinity but the oxidation of the reduced metabolites produce (strong) acids. Mainly nitrification and iron, manganese and sulphur oxidation have an acidifying effect (Sulpis et al., 2022). The deeper in the sediment this occurs, the lower the acidifying effect is, since reoxidation with oxygen is prevented and for instance FeS is produced from the reoxidation of iron with sulphide which does not consume alkalinity.

Low oxygen conditions

Organic matter reaching the seafloor is almost fully remineralized, leaving only 0.4% buried in the sediment (Middelburg, 2019). Sinking biomass to anoxic basins, however, has been proven to preserve 50% more OM (Jessen et al., 2017). Anoxic, and even hypoxic, conditions decrease macrofaunal and microbial activity, which in turn decreases degradation and bioturbation. Hypoxic conditions can originate when the organic matter degradation uses more oxygen than can be supplied from the bottom waters and the use of other forms of chemical energy for degradation. Thus, the OM is degraded at a much slower rate (Jessen et al., 2017). Although it can be beneficial to preserve more OM for sequestration purposes, low oxygen conditions are detrimental to benthic life in more than one way. The absence of oxygen will shift the microbial community to anaerobic respiration which utilises the other oxidants, the products of anaerobic respiration can range from toxic hydrogen sulphide to greenhouse gas methane. This could lead to sediments becoming methane emitters (Grasset et al., 2018). Overall, low oxygen conditions are

beneficial for carbon sequestration but disadvantageous for aerobic benthic life, creating anoxic conditions is therefore harmful to ecosystems but using existing anoxic basins for sequestration might be very efficient.

The role of seafloor biota

Bioturbation and irrigation are the two most important factors for heterogeneity on the seafloor (Snelgrove et al., 2018). Burrowing organisms mix the sediment alongside the OM deposited on top, and irrigation provides solutes, most importantly electron acceptors, to greater depth. This redistribution influences microbial communities and therefore indirectly, degradation and burial. In ocean afforestation, a pulse input of POM can result in an immediate increase in benthic macrofaunal activity and the consequential drop in oxygen concentration. However, research by Witte et al. (2003) showed that the response of microorganisms to allochthonous POM can be delayed by weeks. On the other hand, small but continuous input of OM might be more beneficial to the microfauna as opposed to macrofauna. Modelling bioturbation therefore requires some simplification of the process, which usually includes averaging among benthic communities, and calculating location specific bioturbation rates based on POM rain and oxygen availability. The response of the microbial community is limited to a response to changing POM influx and electron acceptors availability. This approach shows the general patterns in bioturbation but misses some specific details. For example, preferential degradation occurs when there are different types of organic matter available. The freshest, most labile, organic matter will be degraded first. Leading to higher retention times and less mixing for the more refractory POM.

Though ocean and sediment biogeochemistry have been researched extensively, the effect of ocean afforestation on the biogeochemistry of the seafloor has only been hinted at. Almost all articles on ocean afforestation focus on the effect on climate mitigation and the water column, only referencing the unknown impacts on the seafloor. For instance, Boyd et al. (2022) mentioned the consequent ecological effect on benthic communities by the change in food supply, without further investigation. To gain an understanding of the effect of ocean afforestation on deep sea biogeochemistry, different ocean afforestation scenarios will have to be tested, a task that can be accomplished through modelling. In the following paragraphs the information needed to model different scenarios are outlined.

Sequestration potential

The sequestration potential of ocean afforestation is highly dependent on the species and environmental conditions. Macro algae are generally more refractory than phytoplankton, as shown by Ortega et al. (2019) macroalgal DNA had an attenuation rate of only 37.7% /km compared to the 86% /km for phytoplankton. Furthermore, they discovered that the largest portion of algal DNA on the seafloor (63%) belonged to red algae, whereas brown algae consisted of 26% and green algae was 11%. Red and brown algae contain refractory polysaccharides (carrageenan and fucoidans respectively) in the cell wall to prevent degradation, which are absent in green algae. The more refractory nature of red and brown algae might make them more suitable for ocean afforestation practices. The actual carbon sequestration of these algae depends on the carbon content and growth rate. Seaweed growth can be limited by nutrients, temperature, light, diseases, grazing, currents, salinity and nutrient/light competition with phytoplankton (Ross, Tarbuck & Macreadie, 2022).

Other factors which influence sequestration potential are:

- Particle size: a higher surface to content ratio results in faster degradation due to microbial colonisation

- Gas vesicles: gas vesicles allow detached algae and algal matter to be transported to parts of the ocean with greater depths. During the drift the labile compounds of the OM are degraded, and the matter is more refractory material when it sinks. The gas vesicles need to collapse before the matter is able to sink, the collapse is either triggered by transport to deep water (during storms) or by the growth of the higher density calcifiers.
- Degradability and sinking speed: depend on species, depth and environmental conditions (biogeochemical) and determine the amount of carbon reaching the seafloor and the time it takes to be remineralized.
 - C:N:P: Algal biomass loses nitrogen faster than carbon, increasing C:N ratio over time. (Conover, Green & Thornber, 2016).
- Location: carbon is stored away longer in the deep sea of the North Pacific >1400 years, compared to the North Atlantic 700-900 years (DeVries & Holzer, 2019)
 - Coastal areas: coastal areas receive organic matter from terrestrial sources as well as marine sources, terrestrial OM will have been somewhat degraded and more refractory material will enter the water column.
 - Open sea:
 - Depth: the deeper the seafloor, the longer it will take the carbon to re-enter the atmosphere
 - Anoxic basins: oxygen is required for efficient degradation, hypoxic and anoxic conditions increase sequestration by preserving 50% more OM (Pedersen et al., 2021; Jessen et al., 2017).
 - Local conditions: such as pH, oxygen, salinity, benthic activity, calcite rain and other conditions which influence degradation and burial

Predicting carbon sequestration with models requires a lot of information on the POC input and local conditions. However, the fate of the carbon at the seafloor is not necessarily relevant for sequestration calculations. Since the seawater at greater depths (>1000 m) will likely not resurface in coming decades to centuries, all carbon reaching this depth can be considered sequestered. However, when the bottom waters eventually resurface due to ocean currents and the thermohaline circulation, very alkaline water will result in additional CO_2 uptake by the surface water, on the other hand seawater with lowered pH will result in an CO_2 flux back to the atmosphere.

Macroalgae, phytoplankton or seagrasses

Many macroalgal species are suitable for ocean afforestation, which species is used depends on a lot of factors. Namely, which species are native to the area, have high productivity and carbon content. What other (economic/ecological) uses does the species have? What are the risks and benefits associated with cultivation? What are the degradation and sinking rates? Lastly, which species are already being used in experimentation?

In literature, sequestration potential for many genera has been researched. Mainly species with high sequestration rates or CO_2 assimilation rates, such as *Palmaria, Porphyra, Ulva, Enteromorpha, Sargassum, Ascophyllum* and *Fucus,* have gained attention in research (Chung et al., 2011). However, when comparing carbon sequestration companies/initiatives a clear preference can be noted for *Sargassum,* followed by *Saccharina* and *Macrocystis*, with some mentions of *Ulva, Ecklonia, Kappaphycus* and *Euchema* (Table 3). In the following paragraphs these first three species will be discussed.

Sargassum (Fluitans and natans)

Sargassum species are one of the most well-known free floating macro algae. The genus is becoming more widespread due to changes in wind patterns and increased nutrient concentration (Wang et al., 2019). Traditionally found in the sargasso sea, this genus has now spread over the Atlantic and Caribbean and is mostly known for washing up on coasts, leaving a harmful degrading matter. The main growth occurs over the summer, which leads to a major Sargassum wash up on beaches in July and August. The degrading biomass releases H₂S and ammonium which causes respiratory and other health problems, alongside methane which is a potent greenhouse gas. Removing *Sargassum* both from coasts and the ocean, is a time-intensive and expensive task. However, due to its high carbon content (30% DW) Sargassum has a strong carbon sequestration potential which might be beneficial to solving the problem. Not only its carbon content makes Sargassum a favoured species for CDR, also its ability to grow in the open sea, and its natural occurrence in large quantities. Companies such as Pull to Refresh (https://pulltorefresh.earth/), Fearless Fund (https://www.fearlessfund.org/) and Seafields (https://www.seafields.eco/) intend to use Sargassum for sequestration purposes. Another initiative, SOS carbon (https://soscarbon.com/), is a Caribbean based initiative whose main focus is to minimise the economic, human health and environmental impact of *Sargassum*. Their approach is to remove the *Sargassum* before it reaches the beaches. SOS carbon has already experimented with collecting and sinking *Sargassum* and is looking toward scaling up (Gray et al., 2021).

Sargassum can naturally sequester carbon when particulate Sargassum reaches the deep sea. However due to the gas vesicles, most of the Seaweed remains in the surface layer and even after the seaweed has died the gas vesicles keep the OM afloat. Still, Sargassum residue has been found at depths of 5000 m, where the species is carried down due to wind induced circulation which causes it to become negatively buoyant and sink to the bottom (Johnson & Richardson, 1977). This effect of pressure on the sinking of Sargassum is embraced by many sequestration initiatives. Where the Sargassum is collected and sunk to depths over 200 m where it is expected to be non-buoyant and past the mixed layer, reducing the grazing rate and likely to reach the seafloor within 40 hours (Johnson & Richarson, 1977; Gray et al., 2021).

Saccharina latissima (sugar kelp)

Sugar kelp is an edible species occurring on temperate and polar northern Atlantic and Pacific coasts and grows in the winter season. Due to the high growth rate, high carbon content and growth in winter, this species is very suitable for CDR without competing with other algae. Initiatives such as Green Ocean Farming (https://www.greenoceanfarming.com/), Running Tide (https://www.runningtide.com/) and Phykos (https://www.phykos.co/) intend to use this species for sequestration. Sugar kelp has many other applications in food, feed, alginate, fertiliser, medical, pharmaceutical, cosmetics and biofuel industries. Furthermore, it is suitable for integrated multi trophic aquaculture, can be cultivated in sheltered and exposed sites and is native to the Atlantic (Peteiro, Sánchez & Martínez, 2016). C:N ratio is highest in September, making this the optimal time for sinking due to the high carbon content and least loss of essential nutrients (Gevaert et al, 2001).

Macrocystis pyrifera (Giant kelp)

Macrocystis is the algae known for the formation of Kelp forests, an essential ecosystem habitat for many species. The algae are mainly harvested for food and alginates, but at least one initiative called the Southern Ocean Carbon Company (https://southernoceancarbon.com/) intends to use this seaweed for CDR. It is one of the fastest growing and largest algae, growing up to 60 m long with a maximum daily growth of 60 cm. Most growth occurs after august when the nutrient concentrations are highest. Natural

sequestration occurs through particulate *Macrocystis* released from the forest. Particulate matter from *Macrocystis* leaves the ecosystem in two ways, either they are consumed by organisms who leave or whose excretion leaves the ecosystem or parts break off from tidal and wave energy. The fast growth makes *Macrocystis* suitable for CDR, additionally though *Macrocystis* has a preference for colder waters the species has a wide tolerance for temperature making the approach more climate change resistant.

Terrestrial biomass

Though the term afforestation can arguably not be used on this technique. Sinking terrestrial biomass can sequester carbon as well, and therefore falls under the CDR category. Though even more is unknown about the interactions between this type of biomass and the benthic environment. The concept uses terrestrial biomass by-products, which would otherwise largely be released as CO_2 back into the atmosphere. The initiative Carboniferous (https://www.carboniferous.co/) intends to sequester carbon by using Sugarcane bagasse and Running Tide (https://www.runningtide.com/) aims to use woody biomass alongside sugar kelp.

Terrestrial woody biomass degradation has been the most studied terrestrial matter in the oceans due to the existence of well-preserved shipwrecks scattered all over the oceans. Showing that woody biomass which is already slowly degradable in terrestrial environments by fungi and bacteria, is very refractory in marine environments. Largely due to the availability of oxygen, which the fast-decaying terrestrial organisms require free access to (Björdal, 2012). In water wood-degrading fungi take over at a much slower rate.

Research question and aim

The aim of this research is to explore which processes respond to the influx of seaweed on the seafloor, what happens to the biogeochemistry within the sediment/bottom waters, and in which form the carbon is sequestered. This research incorporates methods used by known ocean afforestation initiatives into a biogeochemical model to generate a set of realistic and applicable simulations and predictions. Ocean afforestation effects on deep-sea environments has, to our knowledge, not been studied so far. A comparative study of the carbon sequestration efficiency of various organic matter types considered for ocean afforestation is also absent from the literature. The results of this research can be used in both developing more efficient ocean afforestation methods and in future policy decisions concerning CDR techniques on political and corporate level.

This research attempts to answer the following research question by using an early diagenesis model:

How does Ocean Afforestation affect the biochemical make-up on the deepseafloor and what is the fate of the added carbon?

Method

Documenting ocean afforestation initiatives

A broad search was done for initiatives which intend to use ocean afforestation for carbon sequestration, mainly using the google search engine directly but also by looking at science and news articles (Table 3). The POC input magnitude and composition used for the present study were based on existing proposals from the above-mentioned initiatives. For each initiative, the specific technique and seaweed species were reported and described (Table 3). For each seaweed species, the C:N:P ratios (its elemental composition), degradation rate and net primary productivity (NPP) were looked up in literature or estimated by using data on seaweed with comparable composition. Multiple initiatives were contacted in order to obtain estimates for the seaweed carbon fluxes that would accumulate on the seafloor. The terms used to find initiatives in google were: ocean afforestation, initiatives, sinking seaweed, macroalgae, ocean carbon sequestration and blue carbon initiatives.

The following scientific search terms were used in google scholar: seaweed, macroalgae, *Ulva, Sargassum, Laminaria, Saccharina* and *Macrocystis*, in combination with carbon sequestration, blue carbon, sinking, net primary production and POC. The terms used to find the decay rates were: decay rate, decomposition, respiration, degradation. All variables were documented and mutually compared.

Table 3: carbon dioxide removal and blue carbon initiatives alongside the description of the process and selected (seaweed) species

Initiative			
name	Concept	Species	Website
Pull To			
Refresh	Solar powered vessel sinks algae to at least 1000		https://pulltorefresh.eart
(2022)	meters depth	Sargassum	<u>h/</u>
	Buoys made from forest residue and limestone,		
	seeded with kelp. Sinks after specific time, de-	Sugar kelp	
Running tide	acidifying the ocean and	(Saccharina	https://www.runningtide.
(2023)	sequestering carbon.	latissima)	com
	Monitoring Sargassum belt for cost-	Sargassum	
Fearless	effective biomass harvest. And possibly	(naturally	https://www.fearlessfund.
Fund (2022)	artificially seeding areas	occurring)	org/
Seaforester	Restoring natural seaweed habitats.	Dependent on	https://seaforester.org/#s
(2023)	Seeding small rock with algae	location	tory
Southern			
Ocean	Growing native kelp on hemp ropes	Giant Kelp	
carbon	Harvest for either biochar (fertilizer) or transport it	(Macrocystis	https://southernoceancar
company	to the deep ocean for sequestration	pyrifera)	bon.com/
Coastal CO ₂		Ecklonia cava	
Removal	Construct artificial reefs to grow seaweed alongside	Ecklonia	
Belt	the Korean coast to act as a carbon sink.	stolonifera	Chung et al., 2013
	Caribbean initiative to clean up <i>Sargassum</i> and		
	consequently sink it for carbon sequestration to		
SOS carbon	about 150-200 m depth. After which the pressure		
(2022)	will cause the <i>Sargassum</i> to sink.	Sargassum	https://soscarbon.com/
Seafields	Mid ocean aquafarm irrigated with warmed,	Sargassum	https://www.seafields.eco
(2022)	nutrient-rich deep water in the centres of the inward-	(fluitans & natans)	L

	rotating, subtropical gyre. Partial nutrient recovery on site, bale, compress and sink carbon rich leftovers. Aims to capture a gigatonne of CO ₂ per year of a 55000 km2 farm		
Carbonifero	Using agricultural by-products to bale, ballast and	Rice straw and	https://www.carbonifero
us (2023)	sink to anoxic basins	sugar cane bagasse	<u>us.co/</u>
		Kappaphycus	
		(striatum &	
First gigaton	Seaweed grown locally by native farmers in	alvarezii)	
carbon	Philippines. Transported, weighed, baled and sunk	Euchema	
removal	to below 1000 m	spinosum	https://firstgigaton.com/
	Invasive seaweed is intercepted by an aquatic robot,		
Seaweed	captured,		https://www.seaweedgen
generation	compacted and dropped to >1000 m	Sargassum	eration.com/
Kelp blue	Planting large scale giant kelp forests,		https://kelp.blue/CO2-
(2023)	2,3% of NPP is exported as POC	Macrocystis	<u>removal/</u>
Phykos	Robotic seaweed growth platform. migrates to		https://www.phykos.co/#
(2022)	optimise growth. Harvested and sunk to 1500 m	Kelp	tech

Model implementation

The RADI model (Sulpis et al., 2022) was selected as the tool to answer the research question. The RADI model is an early diagenesis model, designed for use in deep-sea environments, which includes POC and CaCO₃ accumulation at the sediment-water interface, and simulates POC degradation as well as CaCO₃ dissolution and precipitation kinetics. RADI also includes organic matter degradation through six different oxidation pathways, as well as transport processes such as bioturbation, (bio)irrigation, advection, and diffusion, notably through a diffusive boundary located above the sediment-water interface.

While the original version of RADI included phytoplanktonic-like organic matter, the present study focuses of seaweed degradation delivered to the seafloor through intense pulses, thus several model developments were made. The paper by Sulpis et al. (2022) contains extensive model description and evaluation, whereas this paper focuses on developments specific to seaweed degradation and associated consequences. RADI is publicly available on GitHub [RADI-model] and was adapted for this research in its MATLAB (R2020a) version. The original model was modified to include an additional organic carbon flux, for which parameters such as composition and decay should be adjustable. New variables were created for the C:N:P ratio, decay rates and the POC flux (Foc). In the RADI model all calculations which used these variables were adjusted or duplicated to create a realistic response. When new variables were created within the RADI model these were added to the equation later on as well, so that for example when both natural and Foc react with oxygen, the oxygen used in both reactions was subtracted from the O₂ concentration.

Time

The RADI model uses a continuous input of organic carbon from sinking detritus and phytoplankton. However, ocean afforestation mechanisms often rely on sudden sinking or pumping of seaweed to the deeper levels, known as pulse inputs. In the context of the simulations this means that large amounts of POC will accumulate on the seafloor for a specific amount of time. This required some alterations to the models. Adjustable time input elements were introduced to specify when the POC input starts and when it ends.

Bioturbation and irrigation

Bioturbation and irrigation rates are computed as a function of the flux of organic carbon that reaches the sediment-water interface (Foc), and they both decrease with depth in the sediment. This complicated the model adjustment because there are two options to implement the bioturbation of the new input.

- Different bioturbation rates for the natural POC and forced POC flux, where both bioturbation rates are summed for the remaining solids (and irrigation rates are summed for the solutes)
- Combined bioturbation rate, where the rate is computed from the sum of the two POC fluxes (natural and forced) and is the same for all solids (and the same irrigation rate for all solutes)

Using different bioturbation rates allows modelling of preferential degradation. Which occurs when a portion of fresher POM is degraded faster/sooner than the remaining fraction. When fresh seaweed is pumped to abyssal depth, the POM is less degraded than naturally sunk algae because of the reduced time spend in the water column. Which might result in the seaweed being degraded and mixed through the sediment at a different rate than the background POM. However, because bioturbation rates are computed as a function of the POM reaching the sediment, once the seaweed addition ends the flux becomes zero and therefore the irrigation and bioturbation rate as well. Even though a portion of the seaweed is still present in the sediment and is being degraded. Therefore, it is unrealistic to use different bioturbation rates for the natural and seaweed POM flux.

This why the combined bioturbation was chosen for the model. Which sums both fluxes to compute the bioturbation and irrigation rates. Before and after addition the model uses the background rates again, computed with only the natural POM flux. However, when using the combined bioturbation, preferential degradation cannot be modelled and the response after the added POC input has stopped might not be realistic. Still, due to the lack of data on this subject, using a combined bioturbation is the most reliable method.

This combined bioturbation scheme was implemented into the model by calculating bioturbation and irrigation twice, once with the background Foc and once for the natural plus the added Foc. An if statement was added to the **RADI** model function which distinguishes between the two Foc, and consequently specifies which bioturbation and irrigation variables are used.

Decay/degradation

The decay rate is one of the most important parameters to obtain relevant and reliable results. Decay rates for algae can vary by up to a factor 1000, determining whether the carbon remains in organic form for hundreds of years or is remineralized within a day (Arndt et al., 2013). However, decay rates are not specific to a certain species of seaweed, they are rather based on the composition of the OM and the interaction with the environment (Mayer, 1995). For instance, OM with high nitrogen concentrations often has high decay rates (Conover, Green & Thornber, 2016). Degradation therefore depends on the algae composition, microbial communities and environmental conditions. In the RADI model three

degradation rates are used for three reactive fractions of the organic matter: fast degrading, slow degrading and refractory (not degrading on relevant time scales for the model) and are calculated as a function of Foc, following Archer et al. (2002). This results in a very coarse estimate of degradation and leaves a crude understanding of the changes in biogeochemistry and actual carbon sequestration. Whenever possible, decay rates from literature were used (Table 4).

Particulate organic carbon flux

Four approaches to ocean afforestation were selected and supplemented with data from literature and personal contact with ocean afforestation initiatives. In Table 4 all relevant data is presented. Both the continuous, semicontinuous and pulse (Figure 2) sequestration were modelled, because most initiatives were not able to give the Foc in mol/m2/a, these values are based on a range of data from literature. The pulse input resembles ocean afforestation most, since it mimics sudden



Figure 2: different types of seaweed sinking. Semi-pulse shows smaller amounts reaching the seafloor over a short time (within a day). Semi-continuous show a high amount reaching the seafloor over longer times (weeks to months). The ship is used for illustrative purposes, any fixed or floating platform could be used for the semicontinuous and pulse additions.

(induced) sinking of seaweed. The continuous sinking resembles the natural sequestration of species, where some detritus or dead seaweed naturally reaches the seafloor. For *Sargassum* and *Saccharina* a natural sequestration of 11% of the total growth was used according to Krause-Jensen & Duarte (2016) Whereas for *Macrocystis* a value of 2.3% was reported by Bayley, Marengo & Pelembe (2017).

Table 4: the different runs based on real life approaches and data from literature (see appendix 2 for calculations for the flux). Northern Atlantic (N. Atl.), Equatorial pacific (Eq. Pac.), Southern Ocean (Southern O.) See appendix 3 for more information.

Run	Sarg puls	Sarg con	Sac puls	Sac con	Sac/wood	MC puls	MC con	SCB	
Species	Sargassum	Sargassum	Saccharina	Saccharina	Saccharina	Macrocyst	Macrocy	Sugar	
						is	stis	cane	
								bagasse	
Amount (mol C/m2)	27.50	3.03	45.80	10.84	Variable	41.37	0.95	3.37	
Saccharina/wo	-	-	-	-	9:1	-	-	-	
od (total of					7:3				
500 g)					5:5				
					3:7				
					1:9				
C:N:P	797:47:1	797:47:1	630:70:1	630:70:1	216:16:1	222:11:1	222:11:1	405:20:3	
			(Lubsch, Lansbergen &		(A. Tune, Personal	(Atkinson & Smith 1983)		(Frazao et al., 2020)	
			Poelman,		communicati	,		,	
			2020)		on, 15 November				
					2022)				
Fast decay	170	170	Variable*	Variable*	Variable*	Variable*	Variable	5.84	
(/yr)							*		
Slow decay	0.5	0.5	Variable*	Variable*	Variable*	Variable*	Variable	Variable*	
(/yr)							*		
Fast/slow/refra	0.70/0.27/	0.70/0.27/	0.70/0.27/	0.70/0.27/	Variable°	0.70/0.27/	0.70/0.27	0.26/0.27/	
ctory	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.03		0.03	/0.03	0.03	
								(Pedersen et	
Duration	3 days	1 year	3 dave	1 vear	3 dave	3 days	9 months	al., 2021) 3 days	
Logation	N Atl		N Atl		N A fl	Eq. Dag		All	
*The variable docen	1N. All.	All d as follows:	1 N. AU.		IN. AU.	Eq. rac.			
The variable decay rates are calculated as follows: Fast decay = $1.5e_1 + (Foe^*1e_2)^2/0.85$									

Fast decay = 1.3e-4 (Foc 1e2) 0.85Slow decay = 1.3e-4 * (Foc 1e2) 0.85

* The variable fast/slow/refractory fraction is based on 0.7/0.27/0.03 for Saccharina and full refractory (0.0/0.0/1) for wood

For *Sargassum*, the approach is focussed on carbon sequestration and solving the invasive Sargassum problem. Pull to Refresh indicated they want to remove all invasive Sargassum (L. Tincher, personal communication, 2 October 2022). In order to include this in the model, a high Sargassum density and carbon content was used to calculate the carbon flux. This was based on the assumption that the Sargassum grown in one square metre would be sunk to a patch of a square metre at the bottom. In reality the *Sargassum* may be collected in nets over larger areas and sunk as one batch over a much smaller surface area (resulting in much higher organic carbon fluxes) (SOS carbon). A value of



Figure 3: N. Atl. Location (Google, n.d.) (Hales et al., 1994)

8.25 kg/m2/a for high density *Sargassum* mats was reported by Gouvêa et al., (2020 & 2021), which corresponds to 27.50 mol C/m2/a, the highest expected *Sargassum* density which will be sunk at once. Possible degradation [occurring in the water column] was not included in the calculation because the pumping to greater depth will result in faster sinking and presumably less biological activity (thus degradation). However, the organic matter will not reach the seafloor at once, due to differing sinking rates across types of particles. Furthermore, once on the seafloor, these 8 kg of *Sargassum* biomass spread

over one square metre will take longer to mix with the sediment than it would for smaller amounts. Still, the response of the seafloor biota is very fast as macrofauna and microorganisms immediately start

consuming newly delivered organic matter (Witte et al., 2003). The delayed response led to an estimated 3 days in which the POC reaches the sediment, for the semicontinuous approach the same amount was added over two months time. The 3 days are somewhat arbitrary, but still classifies as a pulse input and was generally the shortest time span which ran without errors for the specified resolution. The N. Atl. location was chosen for this approach since it is closest to the habitat of



Figure 4: Eq. Pac. location (Google, n.d.) (Hammond et al., 1996)

*Sargassum (*Figure 3). However, all approaches were modelled for multiple locations (Figure 3, Figure 4 and Figure 5).

For *Saccharina lattisima* a high yield for cultivation was taken because the species does not naturally occur in the open sea. Research by Peteiro, Sánchez & Martínez (2016) found a yield of 16.1 kg fresh sugar kelp m⁴ rope in 5 months. The initiative Running tide intends to cultivate *S. Lattissima* on kelp buoys made from woody biomass. This affects the ratio of degradable/refractory biomass reaching the seafloor. However, since no exact ratio could be supplied for the ratio *Saccharina* to woody biomass the pulse runs were done without the woody biomass. Additional runs were performed combining different ratio of *Saccharina* and woody biomass (Table 4). For sugar kelp the N. Atl. location was chosen as the location since it is closest to the experimental sites of Running tide. For *Macrocystis*, the seaweed has to be cultivated near the coast or on ropes due to its physiology. The initiative Southern Ocean Carbon Company suggested cultivation on hemp ropes which will be harvested and sunk for carbon sequestration (Brancher et al., 2020). To include this in the model, a high yield for rope cultivation was found in research by Gutierrez et al. (2006) of 14.4 kg/m rope when seeded in April and harvested in December. The 14.4 kg/m rope corresponds to approximately 41.37 mol/m2 assuming the growth on one meter of rope will be sunk to one square meter of ocean floor, for calculations see Appendix 2:



Figure 5: Location Southern O. (Google, n.d.) (Sayles et al., 2001)

species parameters. However, because this species will have to be transported to open sea, it is much more likely that the seaweed will be bundled and sunk in higher density. Due to the lack of information, the extent of this baling is unknown and therefore not modelled. A value of 2.3% of the NPP is naturally exported and used as natural sequestration for *macrocystis* (Bayley, Marengo & Pelembe, 2017) and since *Macrocystis* is seeded in April and harvested in December, the natural sequestration is distributed over these 9 months. However, it is difficult to predict when the POC is lost in this time period, though it is likely to increase over time, with high amounts during storms and little afterwards. In order to avoid complicating the model by incorporating this fluctuating POC, the actual flux is distributed over the 9 months equally, which resulted in a Foc of 9.92 mol C/m2/a. The Southern O. location (Figure 5) is closest to Tasmania, where the Southern Ocean Carbon Company is located.

The sugar cane bagasse was the only terrestrial species used here that was solely used for sequestration and sunk to an anoxic basin. From a personal communication with D. Felker (6 October 2022), 100 g/m2/a was used as a realistic production rate. Because the material was sunk in an anoxic basin the bottom water oxygen concentration had to be changed and new steady state variables had to be created. Since oxygen concentration could not be set to zero, which caused NaNs to form in the results, it was set to 5e-6 mol/m3. All three location present in RADI were used to model the response to sugar cane bagasse, however the N. Atl. location is the



Figure 6: Orca basin (Google, n.d.)

closest location to the intended location by the initiative Carboniferous: the Orca basin (Figure 6).

Once the relevant processes in the model were adjusted, a new live script was created to make a userfriendly code to choose the species, location and input duration. In this code the values reported in Table 4 are implemented. The model was first run for each location without any changes to the parameters in order to gain control results. Consequently, for each species the model was run for all three locations. Time and depth resolution were changed accordingly to avoid numerical errors. Outputs were generated in the form of depth/time profiles and graphs at specific moments in time. Carbon retention and TA, DIC diffusive flux differences/ratio were calculated, in order to gain insight in the bottom water changes as well as carbon sequestration.

$$Carbon retention (\%) = \frac{\left[\sum Foc_{seaweed}\right] - \left(\left[\sum F_{DICseaweed}\right] - \left[\sum F_{DICnatural}\right]\right)}{\left[\sum Foc_{seaweed}\right]} \times 100$$

$$\frac{TA}{DIC} = \frac{\left[\sum F_{TAseaweed}\right]}{\left[\sum F_{DICseaweed}\right]}$$

 $TA - DIC = [\sum F_{TAseaweed}] - [\sum F_{DICseaweed}]$

 $[\sum Foc_{seaweed}] = sum of the allochtonous POC reaching the sediment$ $<math>[\sum F_{DICseaweed}] = sum of the diffusive DIC flux through the sediment – water interface$ $<math>[\sum F_{DICnatural}] = sum of the diffusive DIC flux without allochtonous POC$ $<math>[\sum F_{TAseaweed}] = sum of the diffusive TA flux$

For a full list of variables see the RADI paper (Sulpis et al., 2022), in Appendix 1 the variables which are adjusted or created are listed.

Sensitivity analysis

A sensitivity analysis was performed to test the robustness of the model and to further increase understanding of the relation between the different variables in the model. The approach chosen for this sensitivity analysis is based on the uncertainty of certain variables, such as decay rates and percentage of refractory compounds in the POC. The goal of this analysis is to test to which extent each model parameter influences carbon sequestration. The variables used for the sensitivity analysis based on uncertainty are decay rates, ratio fast/slow/refractory OM and bioturbation schemes. The variables chosen to simulate their effect on sequestration are bottom water oxygen concentration, POC influx, input duration and C:N:P ratio. When choosing what seaweed species to use for the sensitivity analysis the location, natural occurrence and abundance were considered. Sargassum is a free growing species in the open ocean and found in great quantities, furthermore, it was one of the few species for which set decay rates were available, making it the perfect candidate for the sensitivity analysis. The values chosen for each parameter were based on expected variation in the species or environment. It is not meant to be a complete analysis of the uncertainty in the model, but rather an indication of the effects these parameters have on the fate of the carbon in the sediment. The Northern Atlantic location, see Figure 3 (Hales et al., 1994), was chosen because it is closest to the growing area of Sargassum. In Table 5 the parameters which were tested are listed for each run.

Table 5: sensitivity analysis runs and parameters

Run	ref	Kf40	Kf17	D b0.	Db3	991	442	dO_2	dO_2	dO_2	dOw	T0.5	T1	T2	T3	T4	T5	T6	T15	T18
Fast decay	70	40	170	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
rate [/yr]																				
Slow	0.5	0.08	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
decay rate																				
[/yr] kslow																				
POC flux	3.03	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10
[mol/m3/y																				
r]																				
Bioturbati	2.69e-05	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
on																				
backgroun																				
d																				
Bioturbati	3.13e-04	-	-	0.06	3,00	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
on					E-05															
seaweed																				
Irrigation		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Ratio	0.7/0.27/	-	-	-	0.90/	0.4/	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
fast/slow/r	0.03				0.09/	0.4/														
efractory					0.01	0.2														
dO ₂ w	0.2803	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.4	0.2	0.1	2,00	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
(bottom											E-03									
water																				
concentrat																				
ion)																				
[mol/m3]																				
Input	12	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.5	1	2	3	4	5	6	15	18
duration																				
(months)																				

Results

The results presented here are not meant to be accurate predictions of consequences of each specific approach but rather a showcase of a range of consequences dependent on different types of input. Furthermore, any unknown compositional variation within and between species might give different responses, therefore these results should be considered as guidelines rather than predictions. The following terms will be abbreviated in the results:

- DIC, dissolved inorganic carbon includes CO₂, HCO₃, CO₃ and CH₄
- TA, total alkalinity is a measure for the capacity of seawater to neutralize acids
- (P)OM (particulate) organic matter
- (P)OC (particulate) organic carbon

Oxygen

A steady state sediment oxygen profile shows the highest concentration near the sediment-water interface, and a consistent drop to greater depths. The addition of POC results in an immediate drop in oxygen at the interface. After which oxygen concentrations decrease over deeper layers due to mixing, upwards diffusion and reactions with reduced metabolites. The profile for oxygen is very similar for all types of pulse addition to oxygenated bottom waters: as soon as the POC is added, most oxygen disappears in a very short time across all depth layers. However, the time between the POC addition and the depletion of oxygen in the sediment depends on the quantity, the mixing and the decay rates of the POC (Figure 7).



Irrigation is important for oxygen supply to deeper levels in the sediment, because it acts substantially faster than diffusion. Increased irrigation therefore decreases the time needed to return to steady state conditions and allows for the faster aerobic degradation at deeper levels. Since irrigation is closely linked to **bioturbation**, both rely on benthic (macro)fauna and degradability. Pulse inputs of POC show increased

Figure 7: profile for pulse addition of Sargassum and Macrocystis to the Eq. Pac. location

bioturbation and irrigation but also faster depletion, which can be seen in Figure 7 as the oxygen depletion occurs faster for the higher POC input by Macrocystis. Contrastingly, irrigation supplies oxygen to deeper levels, whereas bioturbation supplies POC to deeper levels which is degraded using oxygen, meaning that as long as the POC is supplied there is both a higher flux of oxygen **to**, as well as higher consumption **of** oxygen at deeper levels in the sediment.



Figure 8: Saccharina, top left: natural oxygen profile. Top right: continuous addition. Middle left: pulse addition three days. Middle right: semi-continuous addition two months. Bottom left: slow degrading fraction pulse 3 days. Bottom right: slow degrading fraction semi-continuous 2 months. Oxygen and POC are in mol/m3



The time it takes to form a new steady state, after addition ends, depends on the amount of organic matter left in the sediment (ratio slow and fast degrading) and its degradation rates, as well as the bottom-water and porewater composition. Oxygen and POC profiles for the N. Atl. Location can be seen in Figure 8 and Figure 9 for Saccharina and Sargassum and the difference can be observed between the continuous and pulse additions. Two addition types are shown for comparison, adding the same amount of POC over three days (pulse) and 2 months (semi-continuous). The continuous addition clearly recovers fastest for both species. However, when comparing the pulse and semi-continuous runs a clear difference can be seen for Saccharina, showing a faster recovery for POC added over three days. The same cannot be observed in the Sargassum plot. The most notable difference between these two species is the fact that Sargassum has a set decay rate, whereas Saccharina has a decay rate dependent on the POC input. Because the POC input had to be higher for the 3 days addition to add up to the same total as two months, the decay rate is also much higher. Higher decay rates deplete the organic matter faster as can be seen in Figure 8, allowing oxygen to return to steady state faster.

Lastly, mainly the slow degrading fraction of POC determines the oxygen concentration profile after addition ends. The fast degradation fraction disappears within hours to days, after which the oxygen is mainly used to degrade the slow degrading fraction. Bioturbation mixes the POC downward and irrigation provides oxygen, spreading out oxygen usage over time.

Figure 9: Sargassum, top left: natural oxygen profile. Top right: continuous addition. Middle left: pulse addition three days. Middle right: semi-continuous addition two months. Bottom left: slow degrading fraction pulse 3 days. Bottom right: slow degrading fraction semicontinuous 2 months. Oxygen and POC are in mol/m3 In a steady state system, there is an oxygen flow from the bottom water to the sediment, driven by aerobic

OM degradation. Oxygen flow to the sediment is higher for pulse additions, where more oxygen is used for degradation over a shorter time. Interestingly, the oxygen flux is higher for the continuous addition of *Sargassum* compared to *Saccharina* even though the POC input is lower (Table 6). For the pulse addition of *Macrocystis* and *Saccharina* the oxygen influx is much higher for *Macrocystis*, even though the POC inputs are comparable. Lastly, the runs combining different ratios of *Saccharina* and woody biomass, does not show the highest oxygen flux for the high seaweed concentration, but rather for equal amounts of seaweed and woody biomass (5/5 ratio, Table).

Alkalinity

In steady state Ca^{2^*} and CO_2 increase with depth and calcite decreases with depth. When organic matter is added on the surface and mixes downward through bioturbation, CO_2 is produced in these layers and diffuses in all directions. Due to the carbonate balance and calcite saturation state, the increased CO_2 leads to a drop in pH and dissolution of calcite. This can be seen in the profiles in Figure 11, calcite concentration drops near the surface due to dissolution and Ca^{2^*} and CO_2 are produced and diffuse down, generating alkalinity.

Figure 10, t=0 shows that in the steady state alkalinity increases (steadily) with depth, which is a result of the balance between the alkalinity production and consumption, where diffusion and calcite dissolution/precipitation processes dominate. From the moment that the additional organic material is added (t=0.1) the degradation begins, and total alkalinity increases. For as long as the POC is added the alkalinity mainly increases near the sediment water interface and either flows out to the bottom water or diffuses down in the porewaters. The highest alkalinity can be found near the surface just after adding the OM, but the peak can be found migrating deeper in the sediment over time (Figure 10).





Figure 11: Ca2+, CO2, calcite and alkalinity profile for Continuous Sargassum addition

Figure 10: alkalinity profile for continuous Saccharina addition at the N. Atl. location. The different colours represent the depth profile at different moments in time. The addition starts at t = 0.1, after which a clear increase of alkalinity near the surface can be seen. The over time the peak decreases and migrates downward until the profile is similar to the profile at t=0

Since alkalinity is produced by calcite dissolution and anaerobic OM degradation, the alkalinity profile will depend on the type and amount of degradation, therefore indirectly on the quantity POC and the composition. The composition influences alkalinity through the decay rates, faster degradation leads to faster production of CO₂ and carbonate. When the POC is added as a pulse flux, bioturbation and irrigation increase, and high amounts of alkalinity are produced which mix quickly into deeper layers of the sediment. For continuous additions, the alkalinity increases less and is mixed through the sediment more slowly. Because of the intense increase in bioturbation during a pulse influx, the POC is mixed quickly over the first decimetre of the sediment, after which it degrades in these layers. The increased alkalinity production in deeper layers can be seen in Figure 13. The continuous input results in much shallower mixing (Figure 12), which makes the POC more easily accessible for degradation, over longer time periods leading to a higher DIC and alkalinity flux across the interface.

This flux along the sediment water interface gives a good indication of changes to bottom water chemistry. Any product in the sediment which exceed bottom water concentration will diffuse out, but much faster if it is produced near the sediment interface. Since there is alkalinity and DIC production, both will flow out of the sediment, whereas oxygen is depleted and flows in. As expected, higher concentrations of POC rain will result in higher O_2 influx and higher DIC and alkalinity flux across the sediment-water interface.

The **alkalinity** profile in the sediment and the alkalinity flux across the sediment-water interface differ for each location and are closely linked to the incoming organic carbon and bottom water oxygen concentration. Aerobic degradation and methanogenesis have the lowest TA production whereas the other degradation pathways produce more alkalinity.

Alkalinity production and flux to the bottom water are highest for pulse additions *Saccharina* (Figure 14) and Macrocystis and

lowest for sugarcane bagasse. *Saccharina* and Macrocystis have the highest POC input (45.8 and 41.4 mol/ 3 days respectively) and consequently higher degradation rates. The continuous input is comparable for all additions, but lowest for Macrocystis (Figure 15) which has a low continuous POC input (0.95 mol/9 months), showing little alkalinity and DIC production and fast recovery.



Figure 12: Alkalinity graph for continuous addition of Saccharina



Figure 13: Alkalinity graph for pulse addition of Saccharina. The top graph is set to the concentration range of the previous figure, whereas the bottom graph shows the actual concentrations.



Figure 14: Saccharina pulse input, in and out flow over the sediment-water interface

The sugarcane bagasse in the anoxic basin degrades much slower due to the lack of oxygen and consequential lack of mixing, which prevents the OM from coming in contact with degraders at greater depths. This can be seen clearly in the sediment-water interface fluxes (Figure 16), where after the organic matter influx stops it takes almost a year for the excess **DIC** and alkalinity to leave the sediment whereas in oxygenated environments the **DIC** and alkalinity stabilises in a few days to weeks.

TA/DIC ratio is highest for sugarcane bagasse, which can be clearly linked to the low oxygen conditions. Which can be seen in Table 6 and is further explored in the Sensitivity analysis. However, there does appear to be a clear relation between higher TA/DIC ratio and addition types. For *Sargassum* the TA/DIC is highest for pulse addition, whereas for *Saccharina* and *Macrocystis* TA/DIC is highest for (semi) continuous addition. For the *Saccharina*/woody biomass run the TA/DIC was highest for the highest seaweed concentration (9/1 seaweed/woody biomass).



Figure 15: Macrocystis continuous addition, in and out flow over the sediment-water interface



Figure 16: Diffusive fluxes across the sedimentwater interface for sugar cane bagasse in an anoxic basin

Species	Sargassum				Saccharina					Sugarcane		
Location	N. Atl.			Eq. Pac.		N. Atl.			Eq. Pac.	Southern O.	N. Atl.	Southern O.
Input duration	1 year	3 days	2 months	1 year	1 year	1 year	3 days	2 months	1 year	1 year	3 days	3 days
Sinking	Continuous	Pulse	Semi- continuous	Continuous	Pulse	Continuous	Pulse	Semi- continuous	Continuous	Continuous	Pulse	Pulse
bottom water O ₂ mol/m3]	0.28	0.28	0.28	0.17	0.17	0.28	0.28	0.28	0.17	0.23	0.00*	0.00*
POC input to top layer sediment (mol/m3)	3.03	27.50	27.50	3.03	27.50	10.84	45.80	45.80	10.84	10.84	3.37	3.37
Carbon sediment retention (%)	-15,03	29,56	15,63	-4,96	32,56	31.86	33.91	17.59	35.55	25.53	50.13	52.24
TA/DIC diffusive fluxes	0.73	0.77	0.69	0.73	0.79	0.79	0.69	0.92	0.69	0.66	0.99	0.96
TA-DIC diffusive fluxes	-0.93	-4.41	-8.37	-0.85	-3.88	-1.54	-9.28	-3.41	-2.14	-2.72	-0.02	-0.06
Species	Macrocystis							Saccharina + wood				
Location	Eq. Pac.		Southern O.	N. Atl.				N. Atl.	N. Atl.			
Input duration	9 months	3 days	9 months	9 months	3 days			3 days				
						Seaweed/wo	od ratio	9 to 1	7 to 3	5 to 5	3 to 7	1 to 9
Sinking	Continuous	Pulse	Continuous	Continuous	Pulse			Pulse				
bottom water O2	0.17	0.17	0.23	0.28	0.28			0.28	0.28	0.28	0.28	0.28
POC (mol/m3)	0.95	41.37	0.95	0.95	41.37			3.11	7.05	10.98	14.57	18.85
Carbon sediment retention (%)	0.64	32.69	2.45	2.67	31.73			9.67	29.25	49.89	69.52	90.38
TA/DIC diffusive fluxes	0.81	0.64	0.70	0.69	0.61			0.90	0.88	0.87	0.89	0.88
TA-DIC diffusive fluxes	-0.18	-10.11	-0.28	-0.29	-11.13			-0.29	-0.58	-0.62	-0.42	-0.18

Table 6: sediment-water interface fluxes, carbon retention and TA/DIC ratio

*Bottom water concentrations were set to near zero in order to imitate anoxic bottom water conditions

Fate organic carbon

The carbon from the POC either remains in the sediment as (dissolved) inorganic carbon or (refractory) organic carbon or leaves the sediment as CO_2 or CH4, carbon retention in the sediment is higher for intense pulse addition and low bottom water oxygen.

Organic carbon decreases with depth in a steady state system, due to the equilibrium between incoming POC and degradation & bioturbation. When allochthonous POC reaches the sediment, the system needs time to reach a new steady state. Though it does not become clear from the graphs whether the organic matter is mixed deeper, it is mixed much faster for the pulse input. Because of the relatively short POC pulse addition, the system does not have enough time to form a steady state, resulting in a steep incline of mixing depth during addition. As soon as bioturbation returns to normal the POC in deeper layers are mixed and irrigated less, the slower replenishing of electron acceptors means that the OM degrades slower. This shows why pulse addition leads to higher carbon retention in the sediment compared to the continuous influx.

For the background POC (phytoplankton), the carbon present in the sediment is also mixed faster during the addition process, leading to a relative decrease of POC at the surface and an increase at depth. After the addition stops the background organic carbon slowly returns back to a steady state profile. The three fractions of POC each have a very distinct sediment profiles (Figure 17). The first, fast degrading, fraction of added POC is contained to the top millimetres of the sediment, degrading faster than bioturbation can mix. The slow degrading fraction is confined to the top few centimetres and stays in the sediment up to a few years after the influx stops. The refractory fraction hardly degrades and is distributed in the sediment over time due to bioturbation.



Figure 17: fast, slow and refractory degrading fractions of Macrocystis. Noted that the fast-degrading fraction is plotted on a shallower depth range

The sugarcane bagasse in the anoxic basin remains very shallow in the sediment due to the lack of mixing. The anoxic conditions prevented aerobic degradation, leading to longer retention times. However, the presence of other electron acceptors leads to the slow anaerobic degradation of the fast slow degrading fractions. and Whilst the refractory fraction forms a layer on top or within the first few millimetres of the sediment (Figure 18). In Figure 19



Figure 18: Sugarcane bagasse to anoxic sediment, left is full profile, right is zoomed in.

the H₂S production can be seen, showing increased concentrations near the surface just after addition.



Figure 19: HS profile for Sugarcane bagasse

A more extensive look at carbon retention in the sediment has been performed on *Saccharina* and *Sargassum*, for which a continuous input was modelled for a small amount, and a two runs for the same amount spread over 3 days and 2 months (Table 6).

For *Sargassum* the highest carbon retention after two years can be seen for the 3-day input duration, as well as the highest TA/DIC. For *Saccharina*, the highest carbon retention can also be found for 3-day addition but the highest TA/DIC ratio for the 2 months. Furthermore, the continuous addition of both species had very different effects on carbon retention. Where the 30% of

the carbon from *Saccharina* remained in the sediment after two years, *Sargassum* showed a negative retention of -15%. Negative retention means that all added POC was remineralized plus some carbon which was already in the sediment. This discovery is further examined in the sensitivity analysis.

Saccharina/woody biomass had highest carbon retention at highest woody biomass concentration, which is set as a fully refractory fraction.

Nitrification is the first anaerobic degradation pathway following oxygen depletion. NO $_{8}$ is clearly used for degradation in both the pulse and continuous additions. The other degradation pathways, namely manganese oxide, iron oxide and sulphate reduction are mainly used in pulse addition and only to a small extent in continuous additions. H₂S is therefore mainly produced by pulse additions and sugarcane bagasse but most is reoxidized before reaching the bottom water.

Sensitivity analysis

The size of the fast, slow and refractory degrading fractions regulates sediment and bottom water chemistry as well as carbon retention. A large fraction of fast degrading POC leads to a high carbon flux to the bottom water due to the high decay rates. The lower decay rate of the slow degrading fraction leaves time for the POC to mix to deeper layers where it is less likely to diffuse out over short time scales. Resulting in higher carbon retention for large slow and refractory degrading fractions. Bioturbation is independent of the changing fractions, though this is due to the model formulation which calculates bioturbation based on total POC influx. Even though the ratio between fast, slow and refractory degrading fractions would surely affect bioturbation and irrigation.

Negative carbon retention like for the continuous *Sargassum* addition can also be seen in the sensitivity analysis for long addition times (>6 months), high oxygen concentrations (> 0.2 mol/m3), high fast degrading fraction (\geq 0.7), high fast and/or slow decay rates (\geq 40 & 0.08), low bioturbation (\approx 3e-5).

The sediment-water interface flux of DIC and TA is higher and more immediate for the 0.9/0.09/0.01 (fast/slow/refractory) than for the 0.4/0.4/0.2. In Figure 20 it can be seen that for 0.4/0.4/0.2 it takes considerably more time to reach the maximum outflux than for 0.9/0.9/0.01 (Figure 21), something that can also be observed for the higher bioturbation (Figure 22 & Figure 23). The delayed and reduced flux to the bottom water has different reasons for the different parameters. The change in ratio means that a larger fraction has the slow degradation rate, delaying the response. The higher bioturbation spreads the POC over greater depths, which consequently takes longer to degrade and longer for the products to reach the sediment-water interface. For both the 0.4/0.4/0.2 and the bioturbation of 0.06the carbon retention in the sediment is also higher (Table 7). Furthermore, more oxygen is depleted at high bioturbation which then takes longer to return to the original oxygen profile. Not only added material but also the background phytoplankton POC is mixed deeper, adding to sequestration. Another parameter contributing to sequestration are the **decay** rates. Where high decay rates decrease carbon retention in the sediment and low decay rates increase it. Higher decay rates also lead to more DIC produced relative to TA, and therefore has an acidifying effect on the water column.

Bottom water oxygen concentration regulates the oxygen supply to the sediment, which in turn regulates the degradation pathways. Directly, by oxidation of POC and indirectly by



Figure 20: 0.4/0.4/0.2 fast/slow/refractory ratio



Figure 21: 0.9/0.09/0.01 fast/slow/refractory ratio





oxidation of metabolites. Therefore, low concentrations will result in a decrease of aerobic degradation and an increase in anaerobic degradation products. Because the benthic fauna responsible for bioturbation also utilise oxygen, the mixing will also decrease at low oxygen concentrations. This is very apparent in the results as well, where low oxygen produces less alkalinity and DIC and the mixing is shallower (Table 7).

When comparing input duration, it appears that the input duration for optimal carbon retention in the sediment lies somewhere between half a month and two months (Figure 24).



Figure 24: carbon retention as a result of input duration

Run	ref	442	992	kf170	kf40 ks0.08	D b0.06	Dbs3e-5	C:N:P1106:38:1	dO ₂ w0.28	dO ₂ w0.2	dO ₂ w0.1
dO_2	0.28	0.28	0.28	0.28	0.28	0.28	0.28	0.28	0.28	0.20	0.10
Foc	3.03	3.03	3.03	3.03	3.03	3.03	3.03	3.03	10.00	10.00	10.00
Input duration	1 year	1 year	1 year	1 year	1 year	1 year	1 year	1 year	1 year	1 year	1 year
C%	-0.46	19.30	-31.90	-13.73	-0.69	15.38	-9.30	-15.68	-0.94	6.43	17.16
TA/DIC	0.76	0.72	0.73	0.69	0.74	0.83	0.59	0.73	0.75	0.75	0.77
TA-DIC	-0.98	-0.67	-1.09	-1.07	-0.80	-0.43	-1.36	-0.95	-2.51	-2.31	-1.89
				1		1	1	1			
Run	dO2w0.4	T0.5	T1	T2	T3	T4	T5	T6	T15	T18	
dO_2	0.40	0.28	0.28	0.28	0.28	0.28	0.28	0.28	0.28	0.28	
Foc	10.00	10.00	10.00	10.00	10.00	10.00	10.00	10.00	10.00	10.00	
Input duration	1 year	1/2 month	1 month	2 months	3 months	4 months	5 months	6 months	15 months	18 months	
C%	-9.72	15.43	15.56	15.16	13.73	12.44	10.89	1.61	-0.89	-1.81	
TA/DIC	0.76	0.84	0.84	0.83	0.81	0.80	0.79	0.79	0.74	0.73	
TA-DIC	-2.61	-1.39	-1.33	-1.43	-1.60	-1.74	-1.87	-2.08	-2.62	-2.71	

Table 7: out- and inflow over the sediment water interface and carbon retention for all sensitivity runs

Discussion

This study explored the effect of ocean afforestation on deep seafloor biogeochemistry by modelling different types of particulate organic matter input to the sediment in three locations. The early diagenesis model **RADI** was used and adapted to add **POC** fluxes of different composition, quantities and over different time scales in order to visualise the impact on carbonate species, alkalinity and oxygen among others. Understanding the biogeochemical response to allochthonous input is essential to estimating the short- and long-term changes to the benthic environment. As well as understanding the fate of the sequestered carbon and predict at which timescales the carbon will potentially resurface.

Sinking allochthonous organic matter to deep sea sediments is an effective way to remove carbon dioxide from the atmosphere. However, the effects on deep sea biogeochemistry cannot be neglected, since ocean afforestation can have significant short- and long-term consequences. Added POC to the seafloor always results in a reduction of oxygen and other electron acceptors. Sinking high quantities of seaweed at once, pulse inputs, often results in hypoxic conditions in the sediment which can take years to replenish. The reason for this slow return is because the fastest way to supply oxygen to deeper layers is through irrigation, which relies on benthic activity which is suppressed under hypoxic conditions. Generally, smaller amounts of POC added over longer times helps avoid hypoxic conditions but this assumption conflicts with another finding. When modelling the response to Saccharina, the input duration for the same influx (2 kg/m^e = 45.8 mol C) was set to 3 days and 2 months. Notably, in this case the oxygen concentrations flow back to the sediment faster for the three-day addition compared to the two months. This is likely due to the increased decay rates, which is calculated based on POC input per time unit, which is higher over the three days in order to arrive at the same total POC input. The higher decay rates remove more POC during addition, which consequently uses less oxygen after addition. When the input duration for Sargassum was changed, which has a set decay rate, the recovery for the three day and two-month addition were very similar for both 3 days and 2 months, confirming the assumption that decay rates influence this response. The way that decay rates are set in modelling is somewhat arbitrary, where rates are often parameters adjusted in order to fit the model results to real life data. A better understanding of decay rates is nevertheless necessary to more accurately predict the responses to POM. One of the main questions that will have to answered is whether decay rates are actually dependent on the amount and type of POM or rather on the benthic community and local conditions (pH, temp, oxygen). The answer will be essential when considering carbon sequestration potential and effect to biogeochemistry.

Ocean afforestation approaches

The Running tide approach is based on growing *Saccharina* on buoys made from terrestrial matter. Adding the seaweed in pulse additions appeared to give the highest carbon retention (up to 25%) and TA/DIC ratio, but the oxygen depletion connected to this addition could be detrimental to benthic life. The continuous addition of *Saccharina* still had one of the highest carbon retention with 31.9% after two years. The combined runs of *Saccharina* and woody biomass showed that the 1/9 ratio (seaweed/wood) had the highest carbon retention (90.4%), but the 9/1 ratio had the highest TA/DIC ratio (0.90). Whereas the 5/5 ratio showed the highest oxygen depletion. Overall, spread out or low quantity sinking of *Saccharina* with woody biomass seems to be the best approach.

The pull to refresh approach is based on sinking naturally occurring *Sargassum*. Highest carbon retention (25% after two years) for this species is also for pulse addition, whereas the continuous addition actually showed negative carbon retention (-15% after two years), meaning that not only all the added POC is

remineralized but also carbon stored in sediment flows to the bottom water as inorganic carbon. This difference to other approaches might be attributed to the fixed decay rate for *Sargassum*. The decay rate is much lower for pulse addition leading to slower degradation compared to pulse additions of the other approaches but faster degradation for continuous additions. This fast degradation produces a lot of CO₂, which triggers calcite dissolution and produces alkalinity that eventually enters the bottom water. The slower decay rates for the pulse addition led to excessive oxygen usage over longer times, leaving the sediment in hypoxic conditions for longer. A compromise between high carbon retention and low impact will have to found to optimize this approach.

The Southern Ocean Carbon company approach is based on sinking cultivated *Macrocystis*. Carbon retention is higher for pulse addition, \approx 32% for pulse additions after two years, whereas only 0.6-2.7% for continuous addition. *Macrocystis* has a less depletory effect on oxygen compared to the other seaweed, therefore bundling seaweed for sinking might be the most effective approach.

The carboniferous approach is based on sinking residual terrestrial matter to anoxic basins. OM which would normally release all the containing carbon back in the atmosphere in a few years. This approach had the highest sediment carbon retention (50% after two years) and had the least acidifying effect on the bottom water. The added sugarcane bagasse forms a layer on top of the sediment, because there is no bioturbation in anoxic water, no mixing or irrigation occurs. Furthermore, due to the low degradation rate, the carbon can remain in its organic form for multiple years. Since most degradation occurs via anaerobic pathways relatively more alkalinity is produced, being approximately equal to the DIC production. The alkalizing effect on the bottom waters in accordance with research by Fakharee, Planavsky & Reinhard (2022) which state that reduced oxygen penetration depth leads to increased alkalinity production and consequent flux to the bottom water. Though H₄S was produced by this approach, the concentration was relatively low due to the low degradation and the conditions in the orca basin are already very saline and sulfidic. The current approach of sinking 100 g/m2 is effective and has limited effects on biogeochemistry.

Effects on biogeochemistry and fate of organic carbon

The difference between TA and DIC concentrations in seawater shows a strong relation with pH (Xue & Cai, 2020). In Figure 25 from Xue & Dai (2020) the relation is visualised. This can be related to the outflow of TA and DIC into the bottom waters. Since the pH is based on an absolute difference, when the outflow of TA and DIC are not equal, the pH will change. When the DIC flux is higher than TA, the pH will decrease, if TA is higher the pH will increase.

Adding seaweed to oxygenated sediments will result in more DIC production compared to total alkalinity, resulting in a lowering of the bottom water pH. However, when organic matter is added to hypoxic or



Figure 25: Graph by Xue & Dai (2020) showing the relation of the absolute difference between TA and DIC to pH. OA in this figure stands for Ocean Acidification

anoxic sediments, relatively more alkalinity is produced. In some cases even increasing the pH of the bottom water. The pH and alkalinity of the bottom water are relevant for the benthic ecosystem and eventually for the atmospheric carbon when the water resurfaces. Where more alkaline water allows CO_2 uptake and high DIC concentration decreases CO_2 uptake. The location of CO_2 production is important

for the alkalinity profile and the outflow of DIC and TA. The deeper the POC is mixed the slower degradation occurs and the deeper in the sediment CO_2 is produced. CO_2 production at depth leads to alkalinity production at depth, which is retained longer in the sediment. CO_2 production near the interface, leads to high TA and DIC outflow. Oxygen concentrations are also relevant for carbon retention in the sediment. Since bioturbators need sufficient oxygen levels to function, and high POC input leads to high biological activity and oxygen depletion which slows down degradation. Because oxygen is used in the fast degradation pathways, oxygen correlates both with bottom water acidification and fast POC mineralisation, resulting in reduced carbon retention in the sediment.

Integral to optimizing ocean afforestation practices, is finding the ideal approach to sinking seaweed. The question is whether to sink the seaweed at once/one location or spread it out over time and space. From this research it appears that more carbon is retained in the sediment at high inputs, meaning that sinking all the seaweed at once is ideal for carbon sequestration. There does appear to be an optimum, where for Sargassum the optimal carbon retention lies somewhere between 0.5- and 2-months input duration, though this is likely to differ per species and location. Furthermore, very refractory POC is more likely to be retained within the sediment. However, most ocean afforestation initiatives showed no intention to process the seaweed, instead mostly fresh biomass is sunk. Organic material which has had time to drift and sink has degraded most of its labile OM and will be more refractory in nature, which has less effect on sediment biogeochemistry and is less likely to enter bottom waters as DIC. This seemingly contradictory practice of sinking fresh OM should be considered carefully. Apart from the effect on ecosystem and reduction of sediment carbon retention, fresh material also contains more essential nutrients which consequently also disappear from the nutrient cycle over large time spans. Disturbing both the surface and deep-sea ecosystem balance. From a carbon accounting standpoint current approaches can be considered effective. However, considering carbon sediment retention increases the time the carbon is stored away and the stability of benthic ecosystem, it would be advisable to process (nutrient extraction) the seaweed before sinking. Which allows an additional economic benefit, reduces ecosystem impact and increases the carbon retention (by increasing the refractory nature. Lastly, harvesting certain compounds will replace land-based product, adding to the Sustainable development Goals and ensure additional societal benefit.

Risks

The main risks of ocean afforestation are light and nutrient competition at the surface of the ocean and oxygen depletion and toxic by-products at benthic levels. There are many known and unknown risks with dumping organic material in the ocean. Organic matter has a strong and close link to biological activity and water chemistry. At the surface, if the macroalgae is cultivated offshore, macroalgae and phytoplankton compete for light and nutrients (Boyd et al., 2022). Competition for nitrogen and phosphorus leads to either a decrease in phytoplankton growth, reducing natural carbon sequestration from phytoplankton POC, or lower macroalgal productivity. Since phytoplankton have been shown to decrease nutrient concentrations at the surface waters to nearly zero (Bach et al., 2021), the competition seems inevitable. However, the extent of the sequestration offset depends on the overlap between the macroalgal growth area and phytoplankton blooms. A solution to this problem is either fertilisation/artificial upwelling of nutrient-rich deep-sea water or strategic seaweed production. Another risk to growing seaweed offshore, is the uncertainty of the effect the pH, temperature, nutrient and light changes have on growth and the quality of the POM (Boyd et al., 2022).

One more risk of large scale open sea cultivation of seaweed is demonstrated by Bach et al. (2021) who showed that the CO_2 removed from the surface water by *Sargassum* in the great Atlantic *Sargassum* belt required 2.5-15 months to be replenished by air-sea CO_2 diffusion, whereas the residence time of the

surface layers in these location are only 0.3-1.5 months, not fulfilling the CDR potential. Though this CO₂ depleted water may fulfil its potential over longer timescales, it is not suitable for short time CDR calculations. Lastly, when naturally occurring seaweed such as *Sargassum* are used for sequestration, the population is likely to decline over the years. If initiatives intend to continue using naturally occurring species, an effort will have to be made to ensure the population is maintained.

On the seafloor there are two main risks. Oxygen depletion which happens when more oxygen is used up in degradation than can be replenished, is detrimental to benthic life. Furthermore, when oxygen is depleted other degradation pathways will take over. Normally, the metabolites of the reaction are oxidised to their original form by the remaining electron acceptors. At very high OM fluxes, however, the degradation pathways are faster than the reoxidation and the metabolites can get released into the bottom waters. Especially methane and hydrogen sulphide provide a risk since the first one is a greenhouse gas and the second is toxic to most aquatic life. Lastly, oxidation of the metabolites produces protons leading to the acidification of the bottom water. Still, there also benefits associated with ocean afforestation, such as reducing eutrophication caused by human activities, providing habitat for other organisms such as fishes, and locally reducing ocean acidification (Ross, Tarbuck & Macreadie, 2022).

Limitations

The goal of this study is not to make exact predictions of the biochemical response to ocean afforestation. Rather it is aimed at providing a guide to the effect different ocean afforestation approaches can have on the biogeochemistry of the seafloor. Information on the duration of the system returning to steady state after addition is purposefully omitted. Not only are steady states a theoretical condition, due to the physical, chemical and biological variability in each moment in time. It also gives a false sense of 'safety', that after a certain period of time the consequences of an action are negated, regardless of the consequences the action has had on the composition of the benthic community or on water chemistry. Furthermore, the model gives an indication of a response to a forcing rather than exact value for sequestration, duration and changes. The research and model can be used in future research to make more accurate predictions if all parameters are known. Following are some limitations to this study which can be improved upon.

Large amount of POC deposition on the sediment limit oxygen supply and increase the sediment height. Resulting in an altered influx of oxygen to the sediment as well as a lower POC mixing due to time it takes benthic biota to transport and process the OM. This could not be implemented into the model because it required altering the sediment height and estimating the decrease in oxygen inflow.

Furthermore, because bioturbation is calculated with the total POC input, this means there is no differentiation between the fast, slow and refractory degrading OM. Invalidating any relation between these variables, whereas in reality labile and refractory matter have significantly different effects on bioturbation. Lastly, the bioturbation implemented in this model changes instantly from the background bioturbation to the new value based on the additional POC. Though this might not be realistic, the actual time it will take for bioturbation and irrigation to adjust to new organic matter inputs is unknown and should be further researched.

Apart from being anoxic, the orca basin used in the Carboniferous approach is also extremely saline and sulfidic. How this influences the sequestration should be explored in further research. One thing that could happen is that the density of the organic matter is not high enough to sink through the saline layer, ending up spread over the halocline where degradation rates and oxygen concentration are different from the seafloor.

Most of the values used in the model, such as decay rates and ratios, are estimations or averages. The greatest progress could be made in this field with experimental data taken in various deep-sea locations.

It would supply the model with more parameters as well as the option to tweak the other parameters in the model to match real life data. Lastly, the model could be expanded to include more locations, coupled to a global climate model or allow differentiation between benthic species on a functional level.

Conclusion

Ocean afforestation affects deep seafloor biogeochemistry by producing CO_2 and depleting oxygen through degradation. Calcite concentration decreases due to decreased saturation state and produce dissolved calcium and carbonate. The carbonate alongside the anaerobic degradation products increase alkalinity which leads to an outflow to the bottom water of both alkaline products and dissolved inorganic carbon. For pulse additions, large amount of POC added over short times, methane and H₂S are produced. Hypoxic conditions in the sediment occur in almost all ocean afforestation approaches and can only be avoided by either using continuous addition, more refractory matter or using larger areas to sink the seaweed.

In order to optimise carbon sequestration, initiatives should look at carbon retention, TA and DIC production as well as oxygen depletion and production of reduced metabolites. This research provides a method to estimate the optimal conditions to maximise carbon retention in the sediment, which affects parameters such as input time and location choice. Carbon retention is highest (up to 50% after two years) for low oxygen basins and pulse addition added over 0.5-2 month time. Combining the seaweed with refractory terrestrial biomass is also an effective way to increase carbon retention. Other factors which increase carbon retention are low decay rates and high bioturbation. When adding to oxygenated bottom waters, however, spreading the POC input out over time and space is essential to avoid hypoxic conditions in the sediment, which can be detrimental to benthic life. Furthermore, pulse input can have an acidifying effect on the sediment and bottom waters.

The run which added sugarcane bagasse to anoxic bottom water, was the only one having a net alkalizing effect on the bottom water. Showing that it is unlikely that for most approaches resurfacing bottom water, would lead to additional CO_2 uptake due to ocean afforestation.

Pre-processing the seaweed to increase the refractory nature of the organic matter is beneficial for three reasons. It increased carbon retention, has the least effect on ocean biogeochemistry and allows essential nutrient such as nitrate and phosphate to remain in the nutrient cycle.

This research and its model are the first step to understanding the potential and risks of ocean afforestation. Future research and CDR initiatives can continue on this research with in-situ experiments or coupling to climate model.

Data availability

Full code is available on GitHub: https://github.com/Merel-lanjouw/RADI_OceanAfforestation

References

Archer, D. E., Morford, J. L., and Emerson, S. R.: A model of sub- oxic sedimentary diagenesis suitable for automatic tuning and gridded global domains, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 16, 171–1721, https://doi.org/10.1029/2000GB001288, 2002

Arndt, S., Jørgensen, B. B., LaRowe, D. E., Middelburg, J. J., Pancost, R. D., & Regnier, P. (2013). Quantifying the degradation of organic matter in marine sediments: A review and synthesis. Earth-science reviews, 123, 53-86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2013.02.008</u>

Atkinson, M. J., & Smith, S. V. (1983). C: N: P ratios of benthic marine plants 1. Limnology and Oceanography, 28(3), 568-574. <u>https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.1983.28.3.0568</u>

Bach, L.T., Tamsitt, V., Gower, J. et al. Testing the climate intervention potential of ocean afforestation using the Great Atlantic Sargassum Belt. Nat Commun 12, 2556 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-22837-2

Bayley, D. T. I., Marengo, I., & Pelembe, T. (2017). Giant kelp 'Blue carbon' storage and sequestration value in the Falkland Islands. Stanley: South Atlantic Environment Institute. doi, 10.

Bertram, C. & Merk, C. (2020). Public Perceptions of Ocean-Based Carbon Dioxide Removal: The Nature-Engineering Divide? Frontiers in Climate, 2. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fclim.2020.594194</u>

Bjerregaard, R., Valderrama, D., Radulovich, R., Diana, J., Capron, M., Mckinnie, C. A., ... & Forster, J. (2016). Seaweed aquaculture for food security, income generation and environmental health in tropical developing countries. World Bank Group, Washington, DC.

Björdal, C. G. (2012). Evaluation of microbial degradation of shipwrecks in the Baltic Sea. International biodeterioration & biodegradation, 70, 126-140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibiod.2012.01.012

Boyd, P. W., Bach, L. T., Hurd, C. L., Paine, E., Raven, J. A., & Tamsitt, V. (2022). Potential negative effects of ocean afforestation on offshore ecosystems. Nature Ecology & Evolution, 1-9.

Brancher, A., Remenyi, T., Remenyi, C. & Brancher, P. (2020, 2 November). We are growing seaweed to capture carbon! The Southern Ocean Carbon Company. <u>https://southernoceancarbon.com/f/we-are-growing-seaweed-to-capture-carbon</u>

Cai, WJ., Luther, G.W., Cornwell, J.C. et al. Carbon Cycling and the Coupling Between Proton and Electron Transfer Reactions in Aquatic Sediments in Lake Champlain. Aquat. Geochem. 16, 421–446 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10498-010-9097-9

Carbon Sequestration. (2022). Retrieved January 11, 2023, from https://www.carboniferous.co/

CarbonCredits.Com. (2022, 13 December). Live Carbon Prices Today, Carbon Price Charts •. Carbon Credits. <u>https://carboncredits.com/carbon-prices-today/</u>

Chemodanov, A., Jinjikhashvily, G., Habiby, O., Liberzon, A., Israel, A., Yakhini, Z., & Golberg, A. (2017). Net primary productivity, biofuel production and CO2 emissions reduction potential of Ulva sp.(Chlorophyta) biomass in a coastal area of the Eastern Mediterranean. Energy Conversion and Management, 148, 1497-1507.

Chew, K. W., Yap, J. Y., Show, P. L., Suan, N. H., Juan, J. C., Ling, T. C., et al. (2017). Micro algae biorefinery: high value products perspectives. Bioresour. Technol. 229, 53–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.01.006

Chung, I. K., Oak, J. H., Lee, J. A., Shin, J. A., Kim, J. G., and Park, K.-S. 2013. Installing kelp forests/seaweed beds for mitigation and adaptation against global warming: Korean Project Overview. – ICES Journal of Marine Science, 70: 1038–1044. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fss206</u>

Conover, J., Green, L. A., & Thornber, C. S. (2016). Biomass decay rates and tissue nutrient loss in bloom and non-bloom-forming macroalgal species. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, 178, 58-64.

Danovaro, R., Snelgrove, P. V., & Tyler, P. (2014). Challenging the paradigms of deep-sea ecology. Trends in ecology & evolution, 29(8), 465-475. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2014.06.002</u>

DeVries, T., & Holzer, M. (2019). Radiocarbon and helium isotope constraints on deep ocean ventilation and mantle-3He sources. Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans, 124(5), 3036-3057. https://doi.org/10.1029/2018JC014716

Diercks, A, et al. 2019. Vertical marine snow distribution in the stratified,

Duarte, C. M., Wu, J., Xiao, X., Bruhn, A., & Krause-Jensen, D. (2017). Can seaweed farming play a role in climate change mitigation and adaptation?. Frontiers in Marine Science, 4, 100. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2017.00100

Fakharee, M., Planavsky, N., & Reinhard, C. (2022). Ocean Alkalinity Enhancement Through Blue Carbon Ecosystem Restoration. <u>https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-1982110/v1</u>

FAO. 2022. The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2022. Towards Blue Transformation. Rome, FAO. <u>https://doi.org/10.4060/cc0461en</u>

Filbee-Dexter, K., Wernberg, T. Substantial blue carbon in overlooked Australian kelp forests. Sci Rep 10, 12341 (2020). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-69258-7</u>

First Gigaton Carbon Removal Collective. (2022). First Gigaton. Retrieved January 11, 2023, from https://firstgigaton.com/

Frazão, J.J., Prado, R.d., de Souza Júnior, J.P. et al. Silicon changes C:N:P stoichiometry of sugarcane and its consequences for photosynthesis, biomass partitioning and plant growth. Sci Rep 10, 12492 (2020). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-69310-6</u>

Friedlingstein, P., Jones, M. W., O'Sullivan, M., Andrew, R. M., Bakker, D. C. E., Hauck, J., Le
Quéré, C., Peters, G. P., Peters, W., Pongratz, J., Sitch, S., Canadell, J. G., Ciais, P., Jackson, R. B.,
Alin, S. R., Anthoni, P., Bates, N. R., Becker, M., Bellouin, N., Bopp, L., Chau, T. T. T., Chevallier,
F., Chini, L. P., Cronin, M., Currie, K. I., Decharme, B., Djeutchouang, L. M., Dou, X., Evans, W.,
Feely, R. A., Feng, L., Gasser, T., Gilfillan, D., Gkritzalis, T., Grassi, G., Gregor, L., Gruber, N.,

Gürses, Ö., Harris, I., Houghton, R. A., Hurtt, G. C., Iida, Y., Ilyina, T., Luijkx, I. T., Jain, A., Jones, S. D., Kato, E., Kennedy, D., Klein Goldewijk, K., Knauer, J., Korsbakken, J. I., Körtzinger, A., Landschützer, P., Lauvset, S. K., Lefèvre, N., Lienert, S., Liu, J., Marland, G., McGuire, P. C., Melton, J. R., Munro, D. R., Nabel, J. E. M. S., Nakaoka, S.-I., Niwa, Y., Ono, T., Pierrot, D., Poulter, B., Rehder, G., Resplandy, L., Robertson, E., Rödenbeck, C., Rosan, T. M., Schwinger, J., Schwingshackl, C., Séférian, R., Sutton, A. J., Sweeney, C., Tanhua, T., Tans, P. P., Tian, H., Tilbrook, B., Tubiello, F., van der Werf, G. R., Vuichard, N., Wada, C., Wanninkhof, R., Watson, A. J., Willis, D., Wiltshire, A. J., Yuan, W., Yue, C., Yue, X., Zaehle, S., and Zeng, J.: Global Carbon Budget 2021, Earth Syst. Sci. Data, 14, 1917-2005, https://doi.org/10.5194/essd-14-1917-2022, 2022.

Froehlich, H. E., Afflerbach, J. C., Frazier, M., & Halpern, B. S. (2019). Blue growth potential to mitigate climate change through seaweed offsetting. Current Biology, 29(18), 3087-3093. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2019.07.041

Gevaert, Francois & Davoult, Dominique & CREACH, Anne & Kling, Robert & Janquin, MA & Seuront, Laurent & Lemoine, Yves. (2001). Carbon and nitrogen content of Laminaria saccharina in the eastern English Channel: Biometrics and seasonal variations. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the UK. 81. 727-734. 10.1017/S0025315401004532.

Gouvêa, L. P., Assis, J., Gurgel, C. F., Serrão, E. A., Silveira, T. C., Santos, R., ... & Horta, P. A. (2020). Golden carbon of Sargassum forests revealed as an opportunity for climate change mitigation. Science of The Total Environment, 729, 138745. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138745</u>

Gouvêa, L. P., Assis, J., Gurgel, C. F., Serrão, E. A., Silveira, T. C., Santos, R., ... & Horta, P. A. (2021). Corrigendum to" Golden carbon of Sargassum forests revealed as an opportunity for climate change mitigation" [Sci. Total Environ., 729 (2020) Start page-End page/138745]. The Science of the total environment, 765, 144696. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.144696</u>

Grasset, C., Mendonça, R., Villamor Saucedo, G., Bastviken, D., Roland, F. and Sobek, S. (2018), Large but variable methane production in anoxic freshwater sediment upon addition of allochthonous and autochthonous organic matter. Limnol. Oceanogr., 63: 1488-1501. https://doi.org/10.1002/lno.10786

Gray, L. A., Bisonó León, A. G., Rojas, F. E., Veroneau, S. S., & Slocum, A. H. (2021). Caribbean-Wide, Negative Emissions Solution to Sargassum spp. Low-Cost Collection Device and Sustainable Disposal Method. Phycology, 1(1), 49-75. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/phycology1010004</u>

Gutierrez, A., Correa, T., Munoz, V., Santibanez, A., Marcos, R., Cáceres, C., & Buschmann, A. H. (2006). Farming of the giant kelp Macrocystis pyrifera in southern Chile for development of novel food products. In Eighteenth International Seaweed Symposium (pp. 33-41). Springer, Dordrecht.

Hales, B., Emerson, S., and Archer, D.: Respiration and dissolution in the sediments of the western North Atlantic: estimates from models of in situ microelectrode measurements of porewater oxygen and pH, Deep-Sea Res. Pt. I, 41, 695–719, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0967-0637(94)90050-7</u>, 1994

Hammond, D. E., McManus, J., Berelson, W. M., Kilgore, T. E., and Pope, R. H.: Early diagenesis of organic material in equatorial Pacific sediments: stoichiometry and kinetics, Deep-Sea Res. Pt. II, 43, 1365–1412, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0967-0645(96)00027-6</u>, 1996.

Homepage. (2023, January 4). Retrieved January 11, 2023, from https://kelp.blue/

Hu, C., Wang, M., Lapointe, B. E., Brewton, R. A., & Hernandez, F. J. (2021). On the Atlantic pelagic Sargassum's role in carbon fixation and sequestration. Science of the Total Environment, 781, 146801. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.146801

hypersaline, and anoxic Orca Basin (Gulf of Mexico). Elem Sci Anth, 7: 10. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1525/elementa.348

Ilyina, T., Wolf-Gladrow, D., Munhoven, G., & Heinze, C. (2013). Assessing the potential of calciumbased artificial ocean alkalinization to mitigate rising atmospheric CO2 and ocean acidification. Geophysical Research Letters, 40(22), 5909-5914. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/2013GL057981</u>

IPCC, 2022: Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [H.-O. Pörtner, D.C. Roberts, M. Tignor, E.S. Poloczanska, K. Mintenbeck, A. Alegría, M. Craig, S. Langsdorf, S. Löschke, V. Möller, A. Okem, B. Rama (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA, 3056 pp., doi:10.1017/9781009325844.

Jacobson, M. Z. (2019). The health and climate impacts of carbon capture and direct air capture. Energy & Environmental Science, 12(12), 3567-3574. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/C9FE02709B</u>

Jessen, G. L., Lichtschlag, A., Ramette, A., Pantoja, S., Rossel, P. E., Schubert, C. J., ... & Boetius, A. (2017). Hypoxia causes preservation of labile organic matter and changes seafloor microbial community composition (Black Sea). Science advances, 3(2), e1601897. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1601897

Johnson, D. L., & Richardson, P. L. (1977). On the wind-induced sinking of Sargassum. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 28(3), 255-267. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-0981(77)90095-8</u>

Kelemen, P., Benson, S. M., Pilorgé, H., Psarras, P., & Wilcox, J. (2019). An overview of the status and challenges of CO2 storage in minerals and geological formations. Frontiers in Climate, 1, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fclim.2019.00009

Kinley, R. D., Martinez-Fernandez, G., Matthews, M. K., de Nys, R., Magnusson, M., & Tomkins, N. W. (2020). Mitigating the carbon footprint and improving productivity of ruminant livestock agriculture using a red seaweed. Journal of Cleaner production, 259, 120836. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.120836

Kraan, S. Mass-cultivation of carbohydrate rich macroalgae, a possible solution for sustainable biofuel production. Mitig Adapt Strateg Glob Change 18, 27–46 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11027-010-9275-5

Krause-Jensen, D., Duarte, C. Substantial role of macroalgae in marine carbon sequestration. Nature Geosci 9, 737–742 (2016). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ngeo2790</u>

Lubsch, A., Lansbergen, R. A., & Poelman, M. (2020). Seaweed factsheet: Nutrient uptake and requirements: carrying capacity in seaweed cultivation.

Mata, L., Schuenhoff, A. & Santos, R. A direct comparison of the performance of the seaweed biofilters, Asparagopsis armata and Ulva rigida . J Appl Phycol 22, 639–644 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-010-9504-z Mayer, L.M., 1995. Sedimentary organic matter preservation: an assessment and speculative synthesis – a comment. Marine Chemistry 49, 123–126

Melo, P. L. A., Cherubin, M. R., Gomes, T. C. A., Lisboa, I. P., Satiro, L. S., P. Cerri, C. E., & Siqueira-Neto, M. (2020). Straw Removal Effects on Sugarcane Root System and Stalk Yield. Agronomy, 10(7), 1048. MDPI AG. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/agronomy10071048

Middelburg, J. J. (2019). Marine carbon biogeochemistry: A primer for earth system scientists (p. 118). Springer Nature. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-10822-9

Ortega, A., Geraldi, N.R., Alam, I., Kamau, A. A., Acinas, S. G., Logares, R., ... & Duarte, C. M. Important contribution of macroalgae to oceanic carbon sequestration. Nat. Geosci. 12, 748–754 (2019). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41561-019-0421-8</u>

Pedersen, M. F., Filbee-Dexter, K., Frisk, N. L., Sárossy, Z., & Wernberg, T. (2021). Carbon sequestration potential increased by incomplete anaerobic decomposition of kelp detritus. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 660, 53-67. <u>https://doi.org/10.3354/meps13613</u>

Peteiro, C., Sánchez, N., & Martínez, B. (2016). Mariculture of the Asian kelp Undaria pinnatifida and the native kelp Saccharina latissima along the Atlantic coast of Southern Europe: an overview. Algal research, 15, 9-23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2016.01.012</u>

Phykos, PBC. (n.d.). Retrieved January 11, 2023, from https://www.phykos.co/

Pull To Refresh. (2022, 27 December). Retrieved January 11, 2023, Home. https://pulltorefresh.earth/

Raza, A., Glatz, G., Gholami, R., Mahmoud, M., & Alafnan, S. (2022). Carbon mineralization and geological storage of CO2 in basalt: Mechanisms and technical challenges. Earth-Science Reviews, 229, 104036. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2022.104036</u>

Ricart, A. M., Krause-Jensen, D., Hancke, K., Price, N. N., Masqué, P., & Duarte, C. M. (2022). Sinking seaweed in the deep ocean for carbon neutrality is ahead of science and beyond the ethics. Environmental Research Letters, 17(8), 081003. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ac82ff</u>

Riebeek, H. (2011). The carbon cycle. NASA Earth Observatory, 16. https://earthobservatory.nasa.gov/features/CarbonCycle

Ross, F., Tarbuck, P., & Macreadie, P. I. (2022). Seaweed afforestation at large-scales exclusively for carbon sequestration: Critical assessment of risks, viability and the state of knowledge. Frontiers in Marine Science, 9, 2269. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2022.1015612</u>

Running Tide. (2023). Retrieved January 11, 2023, from https://www.runningtide.com

Sayles, F. L., Martin, W. R., Chase, Z., and Anderson, R. F.: Benthic remineralization and burial of biogenic SiO2, CaCO3, organic carbon, and detrital material in the Southern Ocean along a transect at 170° West, Deep-Sea Res. Pt. II, 48, 4323–4383, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0967-0645(01)00091-1, 2001

Seafields. (2022). Retrieved January 11, 2023, from https://www.seafields.eco/

Seaforester. (2023). Retrieved January 11, 2023, from https://seaforester.org/

Seaweed Generation. (n.d.). Retrieved January 11, 2023, from https://www.seaweedgeneration.com/

Singh, J., & Dhar, D. W. (2019). Overview of carbon capture technology: microalgal biorefinery concept and state-of-the-art. Frontiers in Marine Science, 6, 29. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2019.00029

Smale, D.A., Pessarrodona, A., King, N. et al. Environmental factors influencing primary productivity of the forest-forming kelp Laminaria hyperborea in the northeast Atlantic. Sci Rep 10, 12161 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-69238-x

Snelgrove, P. V., Soetaert, K., Solan, M., Thrush, S., Wei, C. L., Danovaro, R., ... & Volkenborn, N. (2018). Global carbon cycling on a heterogeneous seafloor. Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 33(2), 96-105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2017.11.004</u>

Sondak, C. F., & Chung, I. K. (2015). Potential blue carbon from coastal ecosystems in the Republic of Korea. Ocean Science Journal, 50(1), 1-8. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12601-015-0001-9</u>

SOS carbon. (2022). Retrieved January 11, 2023, from https://soscarbon.com/

Southern Ocean Carbon Company. (n.d.). Retrieved January 11, 2023, from https://southernoceancarbon.com/

Stolpovsky, K., Dale, A. W., & Wallmann, K. (2018). A new look at the multi-G model for organic carbon degradation in surface marine sediments for coupled benthic-pelagic simulations of the global ocean. Biogeosciences, 15(11), 3391-3407. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-15-3391-2018</u>

Sulpis, O., Boudreau, B. P., Mucci, A., Jenkins, C., Trossman, D. S., Arbic, B. K., & Key, R. M. (2018). Current CaCO3 dissolution at the seafloor caused by anthropogenic CO2. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *115*(46), 11700-11705, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1804250115.

Sulpis, O., Humphreys, M. P., Wilhelmus, M. M., Carroll, D., Berelson, W. M., Menemenlis, D., Middelburg, J. J., and Adkins, J. F.: RADIv1: a non-steady-state early diagenetic model for ocean sediments in Julia and MATLAB/GNU Octave, Geosci. Model Dev., 15, 2105–2131, https://doi.org/10.5194/gmd-15-2105-2022, 2022.

United Nations. (2015). THE 17 GOALS / Sustainable Development. United Nations / Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Sustainable Development. Retrieved 30 January 2023, <u>https://sdgs.un.org/goals</u>

United Nations Environment Programme. (2022, 27 October). The Closing Window: Climate crisis calls for rapid transformation of societies. UN Environment Programme. Retrieved January 12, 2023, from https://www.unep.org/resources/emissions-gap-report-2022

van den Burg, S. W. K., van Duijn, A. P., Bartelings, H., van Krimpen, M. M. & Poelman, M. (2016). The economic feasibility of seaweed production in the North Sea. Aquaculture Economics & Management, 20(3), 235–252. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13657305.2016.1177859</u>

Wang, M., Hu, C., Barnes, B. B., Mitchum, G., Lapointe, B., & Montoya, J. P. (2019). The great Atlantic sargassum belt. Science, 365(6448), 83-87. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaw7912

Wang, M., Hu, C., Cannizzaro, J., English, D., Han, X., Naar, D., ... & Hernandez, F. (2018). Remote sensing of Sargassum biomass, nutrients, and pigments. Geophysical Research Letters, 45(22), 12-359. https://doi.org/10.1029/2018GL078858

Wickham, S. B., Darimont, C. T., Reynolds, J. D., & Starzomski, B. M. (2019). Species-specific wet-dry mass calibrations for dominant Northeastern Pacific Ocean macroalgae and seagrass. Aquatic Botany, 152, 27-31. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquabot.2018.09.006</u>

Williamson, P., Wallace, D. W., Law, C. S., Boyd, P. W., Collos, Y., Croot, P., ... & Vivian, C. (2012). Ocean fertilization for geoengineering: a review of effectiveness, environmental impacts and emerging governance. Process Safety and Environmental Protection, 90(6), 475-488. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psep.2012.10.007</u>

Witte, U., Aberle, N., Sand, M., & Wenzhöfer, F. (2003). Rapid response of a deep-sea benthic community to POM enrichment: an in situ experimental study. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 251, 27-36. doi:10.3354/meps251027

Witte, U., Wenzhöfer, F., Sommer, S., Boetius, A., Heinz, P., Aberle, N., ... & Pfannkuche, O. (2003). In situ experimental evidence of the fate of a phytodetritus pulse at the abyssal sea floor. Nature, 424(6950), 763-766. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01799</u>

Xue, L., & Cai, W. J. (2020). Total alkalinity minus dissolved inorganic carbon as a proxy for deciphering ocean acidification mechanisms. Marine Chemistry, 222, 103791. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marchem.2020.103791

Yoshimi, Suzuki & Fujii, Minoru & Casareto, Beatriz & Furuta, Akari & Ishikawa, Yoshio. (2003). CO2 Sequestration and Fate of Organic Matters within Seagrass (Zostera marina) Ecosystem. Journal of Chemical Engineering of Japan - J CHEM ENG JPN. 36. 417-427. 10.1252/jcej.36.417.

Appendices

Notation	Description	Adjustment
z_res	Depth resolution [m]	Increased to avoid numerical errors
stoptime	Total simulation time [a]	Decreased to reduce run time, increased for long time effects
interval	Time steps [a]	Increased to avoid numerical errors
RC	Redfield ratio for carbon	Adjusted to fit OM
RN	Redfield ratio for nitrogen	-
RP	Redfield ratio for phosphorus	-

Appendix 1: adjusted variables RADI

D_bio	Bioturbation coefficient [m2/a]	Adjusted to forced Foc
alpha	Irrigation coefficient [/a]	-
dO_2	Dissolved oxygen [mol/m3]	Adjusted to include new Foc
dalk	Total alkalinity [mol/m3]	-
dtCO ₂	Dissolved inorganic carbon [mol/m3]	-
dCa	Dissolved calcium [mol/m3]	-
dtNO3	Dissolved inorganic nitrogen [mol/m3]	-
dtSO4	Dissolved inorganic sulphate [mol/m3]	-
dtPO4	Dissolved inorganic phosphorus [mol/m3]	-
dtNH4	Dissolved inorganic nitrogen [mol/m3]	-
dtH ₂ S	Dissolved inorganic sulphide [mol/m3]	-
dFe	Dissolved iron [mol/m3]	-
dMn	Dissolved manganese [mol/m3]	-
procs	Refractory particulate organic carbon [mol/m3]	-
psocs	Slow-decay particulate organic carbon [mol/m3]	-
pfoc	Fast-decay particulate organic carbon [mol/m3]	-
pcalcite	Calcite [mol/m3]	-
paragonite	Aragonite [mol/m3]	-
$pMnO_2$	Manganese (IV) oxide [mol/m3]	-
pFeOH3	Iron (III) hydroxide [mol/m3]	-
pclay	Clay* [mol/m3]	-
Foc	Flux of total organic carbon to the bottom [mol/m2/a]	No adjustment
Froc	Flux of refractory organic carbon to the bottom [mol/m2/a]	-

Fsoc	Flux of slow-decay organic carbon to the bottom [mol/m2/a]	-
Ffoc	Flux of fast-decay organic carbon to the bottom [mol/m2/a]	-
Focs	Foc for added POC [mol/m2/a]	New variable
Frocs	Froc for added POC [mol/m2/a]	-
Fsocs	Fsoc for added POC [mol/m2/a]	-
Ffocs	Ffoc for added POC [mol/m2/a]	-
$dO_2 w$	Dissolved oxygen bottom waters [mol/m3]	Adjusted for sensitivity analysis

Appendix 2: species parameters

	Sargassum	Saccharina latissima	Macrocystis	Sugar cane bagasse
Wet biomass	8,25 kg/m2	200 t wet weight ha-	14,4 kg/m rope	
density		1 (Hughes et al.,	(Gutierrez et al.,	
		2012)	2006)	
Dry biomass		20 t DW ha-1	1,656 kg/m	
density				
WW:DW			0,115 (Wickham et	
			al., 2019)	
Amount				100 g/m2/a
sunk				(D. Felker, personal
				communication, October
				6, 2022)
Carbon	40 g/kg	27,5% DW	30% DW	405 g/kg
content	WW			
Total carbon	330,3 g/m2	550 g/m2	496,8 g C/m	40.5 g C/m2 (Melo et al.,
content				2020)
Molar mass	12,01			12,01
carbon	g/mol			
Total carbon	27,50 mol	45,80 mol C/m2	41,37 mol C/m	3.37 mol C/m2
in mol	C/m2			
Carbon	11%		2,3% (Bayley,	-
sequestered			Marengo &	
(%)			Pelembe, 2017)	
Potential		4.77 t CO₂•ha-1		
sequestration		(Sondak & Chung,		
		2015)		
		477 g CO ₂ /m2		
Molar weight	44,01	44,01 g/mol		
CO_2	g/mol			
Natural	3,03 mol	10,84 mol C/m2	0,95 mol C/m2	
carbon flux	C/m2		(over 9 months)	
Artificial	27,50 mol	45,80 mol C/m2	41,37 mol C/m2 (at	3.37 mol C/m2
sinking flux	C/m2 (at		once)	(at once)
_	once)			

C:N:P	797:47:1	630:70:1 (Lubsch, Lansbergen & Poelman, 2020)	222:11:1 (Atkinson & Smith, 1983)	405:20:3 2020)	(Frazão	et	al.,
	Hu et al., 2021; Gouvêa et						
	al., 2020; Gouvêa et al., 2021						

Ratio	0.9	0.7	0.5	0.3	0.1
seaweed					
Ratio wood	0.1	0.3	0.5	0.7	0.9
Bioturbation	only	only	only	only	only
	seaweed	seaweed	seaweed	seaweed	seaweed
Total	500	500	500	500	500
amount (g)					
Seaweed (g)	450	350	250	150	50
Wood (g)	50	150	250	350	450
Seaweed	1.030	0.801	0.572	0.343	0.114
(mol C)					
Wood (mol	2.082	6.245	10.408	14.571	18.734
C)					
Total (mol	3.112	7.046	10.980	14.915	18.849
C)					
Refractory	0.127	0.321	0.515	0.709	0.903
fraction					
Slow	0.243	0.189	0.135	0.081	0.027
fraction					
Fast fraction	0.630	0.490	0.350	0.210	0.070

Appendix 3: location parameters

	N. Atl. (H9) (Hales	Southern O. (SM7)	Eq. Pac. (W2)	Orca basin
Location	et al., 1994)	(Sayles et al., 2001)	(Hammond et al., 1996)	
Depth	5210 m	3860 m	4370 m	2400 m
Bottom water conc				
Talk	2342			
$\rm CO_2$	2186			
Temperature	2,2	0,84	1,4	
Salinity	34,9	34,696	34,69	215
Oxygen	266,6	215,7	159,7	0

Calcite saturation				
state	0.88	0,85	0,78	
Fluxes				
Calcite	0,2	0,25	0,22	
РОС	0,18	0,14	0,2	
Clay	26	32	2	
Porosity				
Boundary layer	938 μm	715 μm	1 mm	